Editorial: 

PRESERVE TORTURE CENTERS

Alfred Hitchcock’s landmark masterpiece Psycho based on a psychopath, Normal Bates who used to disappear people after killing them was an international hit and Bates motel was preserved as a museum in US. The museum is still an attraction to the visitors who are enchanted by the film, though, it was a fiction. The two torture chambers Hari Niwas (1990-2005) and PAPA II (1990-2002) notorious for torturing and disappearing people are converted into official residence for politicians and for VVIP guest house by the government. Presently, PAPA II has been used as official residence by the People’s Democratic Party, President, while as Hari Niwas is being turned into a VVIP guest house.  This government’s move didn’t cause any stir or surprise in Kashmir society, as it’s confident that the people particularly the victims were not able to question the conversion. 

Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) and People’s Rights Movement (PRM) showed audacity and questioned the government on this move. The associations believe that the move is little to generate revenue, as claimed by the govt., but more to destroy the evidence and camouflage the crime committed in these places. The associations are soon likely to launch a campaign against conversion of these torture chambers.  As per local customs, such places where blood of innocent people has spilled are considered haunted and require an exorcist to dispel the souls. It doesn’t make any difference to the government or to the thick skin politicians occupying these places. These torture centers remained witnessed to cries, pain and suffering of the inmates for years. According to some surviving victims who were lodged in Hari Niwas and PAPA II scores of torture victims had written their names with blood on the walls before their death. These victims, according to their relatives, lay buried in the sprawling lawns of these chambers and  nearby foothills. Only an investigation by forensic expert in future (if allowed) can bring out the truth. 

Though, it has been learnt that the new occupant of PDP before shifting there had invited some priests to perform a religious ritual prayer to dispel the souls of detainees “haunting” the place. Obviously, nothing happened to them and the occupants are dreaming and planning about the power. What made the stay of these  politicians comfortable in these torture chambers?  They are well aware about the weaknesses of Kashmir civil society and are confident that they can’t be questioned about their acts. They also have staunch belief that human memory is short lived. 

One cannot too much blame the army, police or other perpetrators, as they are not riding on moral horses. But as far the politicians especially from the state are concerned; they are tirelessly projecting themselves as protectors of human rights internationally. This dichotomy is not being exposed, thereby, making them comfortable and stronger. They are also used of forgetting everything and also convince people to forget, and it is very normal to do so. 

In a conscientious society it would cause a stir. But the Kashmir civil society failed to expose the perpetrators and their accomplice (politicians). These politicians are frequently visiting abroad to attend international conferences (in Asia and Europe) and talk high of peace and justice. How many times they have been questioned or put in dock for their stay in these torture houses, beneath which lay the bodies of torture victims. These politicians have read the peoples’ psyche and brain-mapped Kashmiri society. As the saying goes “The most potent weapon of the oppressor is the mind of the oppressed people”, once the oppressed are the victims and the civil society are alive, proactive and conscientious this desecration by politicians would not have taken place. 
The slogans “Our Memory is Our Heritage… Don’t Occupy It...Stop Camouflaging Torture Centers…Preserve These Centers As Memory Museums… Never again…” carry an open appeal to the civil society and human rights groups to campaign against these conversions. There is also a growing need of awareness campaign and dissemination of information about the crimes committed inside these torture centers.  

The torture centers should be preserved as memory museums for posterity like other places so that people cannot forget the past. Even in some countries people questioned the museum by saying that justice and accountability must precede any impulse to memorize or mourn. A culture has to be evolved. A campaign is needed to dislodge politicians from these torture centers. It could be cumbersome but not impossible, since morality is in our side and therefore we can succeed, it needs extraordinary amount of determination. 
TROOPS KILL WOMAN, TORTURE ANOTHER
On September 28, sixty-year-old, woman was allegedly shot dead by the CRPF personnel while her daughter-in-law was tortured in south Kashmiri’s Amlar Tral, Pulwama district. The deceased was identified as, Taja Begum wife of late Assadullah Bhat of Amlar Tral and the torture victim as, Amina wife of Mohammad Ashraf. Troops claimed that the woman died in crossfire, a claim strongly contested by the victim family. FIR No. 160/2009 stands registered in police station Awantipora. 
The killing triggered anger in the entire locality, and the restrictions were imposed by police and CRPF personnel to thwart public outcry. 

On September 28, there was an encounter between militants and troops reinforced by SOG, in which killing of three Lashker-e-Tayeeba (LeT) militants were claimed. The militants were identified as, Abu-Dujana of Multan Pakistan, Abu-Zahid alias Abu Shahid of Pakistan and Mehraj-ud-Din alias Zaffar Sidique alias Salman Sajad of Tral. Awantipora, police station registered FIR No. 160/2009 stating that a woman died in cross firing. The victim family strongly contested the contents in FIR and alleged that Taja was killed intently by troops. 
 A reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and talked in depth with family about the incident. At first, the reporter talked with Taja’s elder son, Mohammad Ashraf Bhat, a teacher. While unfolding the incident Ashraf said, “On the fateful morning of September 28, me and my wife Amina woke up at about 5:45 am. While we were getting fresh, my wife was performing ablution in bathroom situated in our courtyard, and I was brushing my teeth outside the bathroom. Meanwhile, I heard gunshots from roadside. Apprehensive, I took refuge in the bathroom. The gunshots were followed by firing from all sides. Me and my wife both laid down on the floor of the bathroom. In the meantime, screams of my son Nadim’s and Abdul Rasheed my younger brother’s emanated from our house that my mother has died. I cried back to them to offer her water, as I presumed that she might have felt unconscious. They shouted she is profusely bleeding.” 
He added: “Not caring for our lives, we rushed to the house to see the mother. While moving towards the house, a trooper standing in the courtyard warned us to raise hands and stop. Ignoring his warning call, I managed my entry inside the house while my wife was caught hold by hairs by the trooper. She was mercilessly beaten up.”

“On entering the house, I found my mother lying on Nimaaz (prayer) rug in a pool of blood. She was fired by the troops while in keyaam (standing posture) offering Nimaaz. A bullet was fired on her hindbrain (on the backside of head) through a see-through windowpane of her room. Extensively her head got damaged by the bullet and she died instantly”, Ashraf said. 
The family said, it were ignorant of troopers operation in the area. “It was gloomy outside and Taja Begum had lit the lantern in the room to offer prayers. The lights made her conspicuous, of which the troops standing outside, took advantage and shot her dead” the family added.   
Mohammad Ashraf’s wife Amina said: “When my husband was rushing towards the house to see his mother, a CRPF trooper, standing in the courtyard, caught hold of me by hairs and beat me to pulp. The trooper continuously punched my left cheek caused severe swelling on my face. He also struck hard on my back with his gun butt. I cried for help and pleaded before him to set me free. But nothing worked. Besides beating, the trooper repeatedly abused me, made me apprehensive about my chastity. He caught me by hair, kept his gun on my right shoulder and hid himself behind me in order to use me as human shield. As the firing was going on the trooper called his other colleagues.”
She further said: “He told his colleagues that a militant had entered into the house and asked them to kill him. I pleaded before the troopers, that the person entered the house was not a militant, but my husband. I told them, he rushed inside to see his mother who was hit by a bullet. One of the troopers ordered me to call out all the inmates. After hearing from me they all came out carrying along mother’s dead body.”

“Enraged my husband argued with the troopers for killing our mother. On this, they aimed their guns at him and abused him. Meanwhile, SHO Awantipora reached the spot and took us all to Panchayat house. Some other neighbouring families were also taken there.  Till 11.50 am, we remained in Panchayat house. When we reached back home, we did not found mother’s dead body, as it was taken away by police station Awantipora into its custody. The body was handed over to us at about 4 pm for last rites” Amina said.
They family said that police conducted postmortem on body and the report of which is lying with it. 
“Police recorded in its report that my mother was killed in cross firing, but the truth is she was deliberately targeted and killed by troopers. No case was filed against the troopers neither any action was taken “, complained Mohammad Ashraf.

PRESERVE TORTURE CENTERS AS MEMORY MUSEUMS: APDP & PRM
On September 28, expressing grave concern over conversion of two notorious torture centers into the residence of politicians and VVIPs guest house, Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) and Peoples Rights Movement (PRM) held a joint sit-in at Municipal Park, a local park to protest the move. The two torture centers Hari Niwas (1990-2005) and PAPA II (1990-2002) known for torturing and disappearing people were converted by the government into official residence of politicians and VVIP guest house. 

PAPA II has been used as official residence by the People’s Democratic Party President while as Hari Niwas for the purpose of VVIP guest house. The associations while expressing their concern stated, “There would be no let up in the struggle for preserving the torture centers (about 671 in number alone in Kashmir) so that the evidences against crimes against humanity and war crimes are preserved. These centers were torture hubs where thousands of people were subjected to grave torture.”
 Hundreds of detainees were tortured and scores were disappeared in those centers. The conversions of these centers with the aim to destroy the evidences are being strongly questioned and protested by the victim organizations. 

APDP and PRM sought immediate intervention of international human rights organizations and civil society to press upon the state to stop camouflaging these torture centers. The associations demanded that “torture centers should be preserved, protected and be converted into memory museum, as has been done in many countries after conflict like in South Africa, South Korea etc.” 

APDP and PRM apprehend the conversions of sprawling torture centers are intended to destroy the evidence and camouflage the truth. It was further stated that the tread of conversion of centers should be stopped immediately.  

It was further added, that hundreds of disappeared are believed lay buried in these torture centers. PRM a group of former militants and torture survivors said, “We being torture victims (tortured in different centers) believed that there is enormous evidence of state crime in these centers. The preservation of the evidence is imperative, as in the future it would facilitate international probe for war crimes and crime against humanity.”  

APDP and PRM expressed their resolve to continue its campaign against the conversions of torture centers till the practice would not be stopped and the evidence not preserved.  
HANDICAPPED CIVILIAN ‘KILLED IN CUSTODY’

GOVT ORDERS INQUIRY, ASI, 2 CONSTABLES SUSPENDED

On September 13, police allegedly killed in custody a 65-year-old handicapped civilian Noor Hussain son of Feroz Din of Rathal Choudhary Nar village, about 9 km from Rajouri town of Jammu province. He was picked up by police on the evening of September 12. His killing triggered protest in the area. Following the killing the state administration ordered a magisterial inquiry into the incident while Senior Superintendent of Police Rajouri suspended one Assistant Sub Inspector and two constables.   

According to reports, Noor Hussain was picked up by Police on the evening of September 12 when he was about to break his fast. Eyewitness said police personnel handcuffed Hussain, kicked his head, dragged him into a vehicle and took him to Police Station Rajouri. An eyewitness Anita Devi said police handcuffed Noor Hussain and beat him up in front of the entire village. “Not only me, the entire village is witness to the police torture,” Devi said.


As soon as the news of Noor Hussain’s killing spread in the area, residents came out on streets and staged massive protest demonstrations and blocked the road for two hours. 

Meanwhile, District Magistrate ordered a magisterial probe into the incident while Senior Superintendent of Police Rajouri suspended one Assistant Sub Inspector and two constables. Another eyewitness and son in law of Hussain, Abdul Gani told media that a police party of Rajouri Police Station picked up Hussain, roughed him up and forcibly pushed him into the police vehicle.

Hussain’s relatives also said that a police team headed by Deputy Superintendent of Police Liyaqat Choudhary visited their house in the morning and offered them Rs 15000 and employment of SPO to the Hussain’s son.  

“The DSP offered us Rs 15000 and employment to one for forgetting everything about the killing,” a relative Barkat Hussain said adding some politicians in the area also suggested them to forget the incident. Noor Hussain’s brother also claimed that the police approached them. 

“They told us to receive Rs 15000 and forget everything about the incident,” he said adding the family lived lifer in abject poverty and had nothing to eat at home. “We demand a permanent government job not a job of an SPO. Only then will the family survive. Otherwise they will die of starvation,” he said.

Meanwhile, residents of Rathal took the body and staged a sit-in on Sher-e-Kashmir Bridge Rajouri. The traffic remained disrupted for about two hours. The protestors raised slogans against police and state administration. 

The protestors were pacified when District Development Commissioner and Senior Superintendent Police (SSP) reached the spot and announced a magisterial probe into the incident. The SSP also ordered suspension of one Assistant Sub Inspector and two constables who had picked Hussain from his house.

He apologized to the victim family and the people saying: “The occurrence of such incidents is a matter of sorrow for police and a blot on our uniform.” SSP said whosoever would be involved in the killing would be dealt with iron hands. “We are not shielding anybody. After the inquiry whosoever will be found guilty will be booked as per the law.”


Police authorities said they arrested Hussain after Court orders adding there was a non-bailable warrant against him. However, his health deteriorated and he was admitted to District Hospital Rajouri at around 8:30 pm on September 12. Police said that when his condition improved, they handed him over to the family. Police said Hussain was not killed in custody but died among his family members. 

However, Hussain’s relatives refuted the police statement and alleged that Hussain was killed in custody. “Police handed over his body to us.” Later, a team of three doctors under the supervision of police conducted Hussain’s post-mortem. However, the doctors could not ascertain the immediate cause of his death.

A senior doctor said samples had been sent to Forensic Science Laboratory Jammu. “At this time nothing can be said about the cause of the death.” However doctors said that when police brought Hussain to the hospital, they told them that the patient had consumed some suspicious substance.

A senior doctor said the patient was let off from the hospital after washing the patient’s stomach. “In the morning, police brought Hussain’s body in the hospital for conducting postmortem,” a senior doctor said.

According to District Magistrate Rajouri, Jaipal Singh, the committee would submit its report within 10 days.

TORTURE TESTIMONIES

· Name: Arshad Mohuddin 

Age: 40 years 

Education: PG 

Occupation: Teacher Urdu and English in Higher secondary, Preacher in mosque 

Civilian/Militant: Civilian (no association with militancy)

Association: Religious association with Zamiat-e-islam 

Religion: Islam

Nationality: Kashmiri/Indian

Address: Lach village, Hardwara, dist. Kupwara 

Date of Interview: 14th April, 2008

On 22nd March 1999 at around 2 p.m. Arshad was on duty at his schools when he was asked to meet the Major of 6 Dogra Camp, 17th Brigade, Navgaon. He was asked to give his ID to the company commander. Thus following orders he went to meet Major Jagrup. He along with a fellow teacher went to the camp at around 3: 30 p.m.

 He was made to wait in the barracks for an half an hour after which the teacher who accompanied him was asked to leave. Later he met a man with black overalls and a black scarf who asked him about his association with a known terrorist, Farooque from his village. Arshad claimed that he knew of him but had no knowledge of his acts or had not met him for a very long period of time. He was then asked to confess to his association or would be killed. Thus fearing prosecution Arshad admitted to an association thinking that they would let him go after the confession. But as soon as he answered in the positive his clothes were removed and he was tied up with ropes. He was forced to lie down and first canned on the soles of his feet. A piece of wood was placed between his legs and electric current was passed sending electric shocks to his sensitive parts. This was repeated at some intervals of time after which he was brought down.  He was later addressed as a hardcore militant and the second in command of the brigade came in for questioning. Throughout this ordeal he was blindfolded. On questioning he heard a distinct click of a audio tape and thus knew that the conversation was being recorded. He was repeatedly asked if he had association with the terrorist. On his refusal a roller made of wood was passed throughout his body. He was exhausted but refused to comply to the army man’s orders. This ordeal lasted past midnight and he was later put into cell till the next morning. 

The next day he got up at 8 a.m. and asked the sentry if he could offer namaz and was allowed to. The sentry offered him tea and potato with puris (kind of a chapatti), he had the tea but as was fasting refused the puris. He was led again into the cell and locked up till 9 a.m. Later he was blindfolded and taken into a helipad as assumed by him. The blindfolds were removed and he could see a forest area around him. He was asked to run but he refused as he thought that they would later on use this against him stating that they fired upon him as he was running away from their custody. On his refusal he was made to wear a phiran (a local warm coat) and pose with a gun, a photograph of his in this pose was taken. He was again blindfolded and taken back to the cell. On the same day at around 1 p.m. he was let go as the pressure from his family for his release proved successful according to him. 

His family took him to a local private hospital from which he was released after 3 days of treatment. He was issued summons and went to the camp whenever asked to for the next 3 months. He also learnt of an encounter in the jungle where army claimed that a terrorist was shot while attempting to escape and feels that he would have met with the same fate if he had run as asked by the army men on that particular day. 

Three months later to the incident he was asked by an army officer and was told that the CEO had asked him to stop coming to the camp. The second in command also called him and asked him about how he was related to a person called Rashid Engineer, on being told that he was a neighbour the man very knowingly smiled. Arshad believes that this proves that Rashid had informed the army about possible links between him and the terrorist. He later met the CEO of the command who very humanly asked him to not report to the camp any more and according to Rashid that was the end of the ordeal during that year. 

He was again tortured in another incident by the army on 7th December 2001. According to Rashid when he was making his way to the mosque for his daily teaching sermon he was stopped by the army and searched. He was asked by the army men to accompany them to the camp and made to sit in the car. The men in the car remarked that he was the guy who preached that support the separatist’s movement and also was a seeker blessing for them. He was later taken to the Lagant camp of the army and tied to a wooden post throughout the day. At around 1 p.m. he was measured and a file stating ‘Fit for jail’ was shown to him. He signed on the file believing that jail would be better than the camp torture. He was again put into the cell and later was blindfolded and taken to the Hardwara police station. He recognized the men at the police station who regarded him highly and gave him all the valuables that were on his person at the time that the army had picked him up. A document was shown to him that claimed that the army had picked him from him and 4 detonators and 1 kg RDX were found in his kitchen.

He was in prison for 15 days after which he was let off on bail. A case had been registered against him and for 5 years he fought it in the High court. 

He had to get hospitalized again and has permanent injuries in form of dysfunctional genitals and constant body pain. He also claims that his memory has been affected after these incidents of torture.

· Name: Shamim Ahmed

Age: 30

Education: 10th Standard

Occupation: Government Service, Handicrafts

Association with militancy: None

Civilian/Militant: Civilian

Other associations: None

Address: Vethpura, Srinagar

Date of Interview: 18th April. 

Shamim Ahmed traces all his problems with the authority forces to his long hair and beard and his pathan suit which predisposed them to see him as a militant or troublesome character. 

He was first made aware of this in 1994, when one evening, while watching a movie with his friends, the Army raided both his neighbours and his house. He, his brother and his friend were taken away by the Army. His father attempted to stop the Army but his attempts were not fruitful.

Shamim claims that his eyes were blindfolded and was taken to Badami Bagh camp. He and four other were kept in a room and his hands were tied. There were four army men there. They were kept in a tank with water up till their waist till 7.00 a.m. 

They were then taken to a room where their clothes were removed completely. There were ten army men who humiliated him by pulling off his clothes. He was beaten by lathis and electric shocks were given to him till he fainted. The main reason for interrogation was to find out which tanzeem (organisation) he was associated with. 

He was tortured for two-two and half hours for 10-15 minutes continuously with 2 minutes breaks in the middle. This was till he became unconscious. He became conscious at four p.m. He then found out that one of the five people who had been with him, had been killed. He was alone in room when a Major came and asked him if he had been fed. When he said that he hadn’t eaten, the Major replied saying, ‘Lejha bhai, isko mithai khilao,” (Take him and feed him sweets). Then the torture began again. 

At this point, his neighbours and family had received the dead body. There was also a rumour that two out of the remaining had also been killed. Therefore a protest had started. Because of this, pressure mounted on the army and he was released to the police station and he was released from there.

He sought his own medical treatment. He remained in the hospital for one month. 

Six months later, he went to a hospital in Barsula to meet his brother who had been admitted there. There was a BSF raid and an ID Parade was conducted. In the parade he was identified as a militant by someone. He cried a lot but he was not left. He was instead taken to the BSF camp at Chanpura. He was taken in a car, where he was kept on the ground and two three people sat on him. On reaching Chanpura, his hands and feet were bound together and wooden plank was used to position him so he couldn’t move. He was beaten by lathis and iron roads. (The BSF Camp is located in an unoccupied Pandit’s house). This continued for four-five hours till he fell unconscious. He was unconscious for so long that he was thought dead. When he came to, he found 40 men around him. Furious at the thought that he was deceiving him, they started beating him again. He was beaten till 11 p.m.

There was no food or water given to him. When he was conscious, he questioned the army regarding who had informed on him and how they had identified him. But they refused to answer. He was released when his father came to the camp.

Three years later, in 1997, 2 Grenade Militia came to his home when he was asleep. It was 12.30-1.00 a.m. He was woken up by 30-40 Army men. He was asked to hand over weapons he had been accused of having and was told that if he did, he would be left. When he replied that he did not have any weapons, he was not believed and his clothes were removed. No one in the family was aware of this. But then, they asked his grandmother for water. She gave a glass of water for drinking. They threw it back on her face and asked for water in a bucket. When they obtained this, he was forced to drink all the water. He was gagged before he fell conscious.

Two-three hours later, he regained consciousness. He was beaten again with gun butts. Then he was taken to a camp where he was very badly misbehaved with. It took a great deal of probing before he revealed that iron rods had been inserted into his rectum. He was very uneasy about this.

On being released, he sought a doctor on his own. 

Next year, in 1998, between May and August, his house was raided again. This was on the basis of an incident which had happened in the locality. Two boys were having a fight and a grenade was involved. When the BSF questioned them about the ownership and source of the grenade, Shamim’s name came up. This was how his house was raided again.

He was interrogated regarding the weapon. He was then taken to the BSF camp at Karanagar. His eyes were blindfolded and he was beaten up. He was also given electric shocks there both in the morning and evening. He was kept in the camp for seven days and was tortured for four of those days. The last three days, he wasn’t tortured. He was then released.

In October 2000, the next incident of torture happened. The Army had obtained information that some one had died because of a weapon supplied by him. They raided his house, pulled him out and taken to Badami Bagh camp in Srinagar. He was tortured there and electric shocks were also given. He was also beaten. At 3.00 p.m., a soldier came and warned him that he would be killed and he was asked to do his last namaaz. He said, “Allah se apne guna ho ki tauba man le” (Ask for forgiveness from the Lord) He had reconciled himself to his death and conducted his last prayers. He was taken to the police chowki from there. There he met his father and to his surprise, he was released.

In November of that year, he had his first encounter with the STF, who he claims are the worst. He had by then gotten enrolled in distance learning as he wished to continue his education. He wanted notes so he went with his friends to SP College where he was picked up by the STF. They were trying to hold him and he resisted and by mistake hit the STF officer on his nose. It started bleeding and in anger, Shamim was beaten by the STF and was taken to the camp for further interrogation. They beat him and there was an identification parade where he wasn’t recognised. At the same time, the principal of SP College called the STF and pressurized them to release him. So he was released.

In 2002, he had a major encounter with the STF. He was picked up from Lal Chowk where he was playing cricket. Two men were running behind him and caught him. One being caught, he was beaten by a gun and his clothes were removed. He was put in a car and was taken to Shivpura in Indiranagar, Srinagar. There were also some other renegades picked up with him as well. On reaching, he was sent in a room and hung from the ceiling. Ropes were tied from shoulders and he was made to stand on a table. When he denied the charge of having weapons, the table would be yanked out, almost dislocating his shoulders. They did this from 10.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. He then declared that he had weapons hoping he would be let go. He was then taken to Cargo camp where there were a lot of other people being tortured. For eight days he was kept there. He was tortured everyday from 11.30a.m.-12.30 p.m. by SP Manohar Singh. The sentry was informed that Shamim should not be allowed to sleep. Whenever he felt sleepy, a knife was poked into his body. The sentry also used water to wake him. He went eight days without sleeping. 

He was kept there for 21 days before being shifted to a police station. An FIR was lodged against him saying that RDX was recovered from him. He was in the police station for 10-12 days and the case proceeded in the court before he was cleared of all charges as there was no proof. His lawyer also discussed his torture with the judge but no action was taken against the culprits.

In 2003, the STF came at night to his house. Ganshyam was the head of the STF. He was accused again of having weapons and was informed that all those people/commanders were dead. The informer had been a young boy. There was no weapon which was recovered. Despite this he was taken to a camp and was tortured. He was not allowed to sleep. In twenty-four hours he was only allowed to go out for two minutes to finish all his business. The room stank. He was given mashed potatoes, water dal and half cup tea. He was interrogated times in the twenty-five days he was there for. He was also interrogated by a woman (DSP Rana Kundal). Many torture methods were used including roller and electricity. 

After being released, he was not able to sleep for many days. It’s been four five years and he hasn’t been captured since. His main regret is that the torture he has faced has not let him play cricket again. 

IED BLAST KILL WOMAN 

On September 13, gloom had descended on the entire neighborhood. Intermittent screams emanating from the windows of the two-storeyed old house which had been painted red to give a facelift. Brave heart Khadija lived here along with her four children. Khadija was killed in an IED blast on the evening September 12, few hundred meters from her home at Khwaja Yarbal. Her sons Yaseen (30) and Afaq (27) were struggling to control their tears. 

“Allah took her back. Nobody could change the destiny. I wish she could have lived to be part of the marriage of her three children,” said Afaq, working as mechanic in a local workshop. The body of Khadija lay in the Police Control Room Srinagar for the whole night and was handed over to the family on morning of September 13. Breaking the lull, Yaseen sighed, “She wished me luck when I left for the daily routine, only to never see her again. I should have stayed at home.”

Khadija was returning from the shrine of Makhdoom Sahib after offering 'Asar' prayers when she was fell victim to the disastrous blast and lost her life. “She would always get ‘Tabaruk’ for us from shrine,” Yaseen recalled.

According to the relatives, Khadija had brought up her four children working day in and out. Her husband Abdul Rehman Anchari had left her in year 1993.The conversation was broken with the scream of Khadija’s younger daughter Rehana “who will put mehandi on my hands. Who shall I share my secrets with?” 

Hanifa, another daughter of Khadija, is married. Abdul Rehman Bulla, brother of Khadija who helped the family though thick and thin, chipped in. “Her body was charred. I could hardly bear to look at it. I recognized only her teeth. But she is a martyr. She will have a place in heaven.”

Diabetic and an arthritis patient, Khadija was seen as a resilient and caring woman by the neighbors. “We have lost a good neighbor. She has lived here from her childhood and we cannot forget her easily,” said neighbor Kulsum.

The blast site bore testimony to the gory face of death; also the sandals of Khadija that still lay there stained with blood. Move over security personnel and men, women and children were now inspecting the blast site and giving respective remarks and judgments about the incident. Nobody other than the Tehsildar had visited the family and recorded the names and other necessary information.
ARMY TORTURES SHO

WILL NOT COOPERATE ARMY: POLICE 

On September 4, police in Poonch district have snapped ties with army, refusing to participate in joint operations against militants. This follows torture of a station house officer allegedly by troopers in August.

“We feel insecure to work with army. They subjected one of our senior officers to third degree torture for just performing his duty. We don’t want to be part of the operations carried out by the army,” said a police official wishing anonymity. “Yes our men are afraid of army and are not ready to participate in the joint operations. We have taken up the matter with army’s top brass and they are looking into it,” said another police official.

Reports said that police refusing to participate in the joint operations had put the troops in a tight spot. “Army is facing immense difficulties in absence of police,” they added. Police officials maintained that army should take stern action against the troopers and the officers responsible for torturing the SHO. “Till then we will not cooperate with them,” they added.

According to reports, the trouble between police and army started on August 24 when police arrested two soldiers and recovered fake currency worth lakhs from them. Following their arrest the SHO Poonch, Kuldeep Khajuria, planned to visit the army camp to question a few more soldiers and officers whose names the arrested duo had revealed during questioning. “As soon as the police party reached near the camp about two dozen army soldiers accompanied by two officers of 17 Rajput regiment came out and took SHO as hostage. He was locked in a room and beaten to pulp. One of the policemen accompanying the SHO informed the higher ups who reached the spot and rescued the officer,” sources added.

Following the assault on SHO’s life police registered an attempt to murder case under FIR no. 114/09 against two army officers and 17 soldiers but no arrest has been made in this connection till date, sources added.
ARMY, STF BESIEGE DODA VILLAGE

 LOCALS ALLEGE HARASSMENT: WE ARE NOT ALLOWED TO MOVE

Army accompanied by Special Task Force of Jammu and Kashmir police has laid siege of village Kalihand, 15 kilometers from Doda town and its adjoining areas from September 24 to 27 confining the villagers to their homes. Even the children are not being allowed to come out of their homes. 

Villagers told the media that army has sealed all the routes towards the villages alongside restricting civilian movement within the village also. They began the operation on the pretext of catching alive some militants, who according to them were hiding in village but three days have passed, they have achieved no success.  said a villager while talking to media. 

He added that civilian movement has been made impossible. “We are not allowed to move from one door to the other. They are sitting outside our homes and at some places, they have even barged inside and are demanding food items from the villagers who have been left with nothing to eat,” added another villager wishing anonymity. 

He stressed that army personnel without any provocation beat up three villagers namely Barkat Khan, son of Nazir Khan along with Ghulam Mohiuddin Malik son of Zafar Malik. “They beat us since they had been asking us to identify the place where, according to them, militants have created a hideout. We expressed complete ignorance and this irked them,” said another villager on the condition of anonymity.  

A local who lives nearby informed the media that Barkat was taken into the custody of army immediately after he was allegedly found talking to ‘someone’ over mobile. He disclosed that STF along with army has forced them to remain confined to their rooms. “We cannot move anywhere. We are living as if someone has kidnapped the entire village,” added the local. 

According to locals, army continued the search operation on third day without any success. “If they have to fight militants, they should do so but not from our homes. Why are we being made to suffer for no fault of ours? This has become a matter of routine for army and STF to barge into our homes and harass us,” added another villager. 

They are not allowing us to even cater to needs of animals. “We are being restricted from even offering fodder to cattle for reasons best known to army and STF,” asserted the villager. PRO (Defence) Col. Biplabh Nath, expressed his ignorance over the incident and said, “I am in Mussorie.” 
 “I know what you have to do. I do not want to share anything with you,” SSP (Doda) told media. However, DIG (Udhampur-Doda range) said “You give my number to those who are being harassed in village Kalihand. I would talk to them myself and would do my best to correct if any wrong has happened.” He further added, “I know my jawans (personnels) well and am sure, there would be no problem but since you have brought this to my notice, I would like to talk to the people over there directly.”

“Our operations are not intended at harassing the general public. We are duty bound to look into complaints and if found true, I would talk to army and other concerned officials about this to ensure rights of civilian population are protected,” added Deepak. 

Deputy Commissioner (DC) Doda Syed Sharief-ud-Din, while confirming to have received information about siege of village Kalihand said, “SSP has informed me that an operation is going on at Kalihand and all steps have been taken to ensure that villagers are not harassed and entire operation goes on without causing much inconvenience to general public. 

BANYARI GUNFIGHT

LOCALS NARRATE ORDEAL; CONDEMN TROOPERS' ACTION

Sep 24: For thousands of residents of Banyari village of Bandipora district, Wednesday’s the September 23 encounter was no less than a doomsday. Locals alleged that troopers forced them to clear the debris of the house razed in the gunfight to get suspected explosives.

 “It was a doomsday for us. Troopers were showering mortar bombs and we were watching helplessly,” said elderly Hajra Begum. During the encounter, the three-storey residential house of Rehat Mir was completely destroyed. Besides, claim locals, in about 60 houses cracks have developed due to heavy shelling. Mir has lost property worth Rs 20 lakh, including a three-storeyed house, cash 3 lakh, four sheep, two cows and other valuables in the house during the 26-hour gunfight.

“We were not aware of the encounter. Before entering the house, troopers were distributing sweets among the locals,” said Hajra Begum, adding “immediately after entering the house, we heard gunshots. We were terrified and tried to escape from the spot but were not allowed by the troopers”.

The family members of Rehat Mir alleged that they were kept hostage by the troopers when militants were forced to take refuge in their house. “We were playing with our sisters who were invited by our father on the occasion of Eid. At 2 pm on September 22, two people entered our house and took shelter in my room and were trembling,” said one of the family members.

“They presented themselves as laborers of Uttar Pradesh. When I came closer to them I found them hiding two guns. I was terrified and tried to convey it to my parents,” he said.

“As soon as I reached the kitchen of our house, troopers forcibly entered our house and started searching without informing us, but they (militants) remained hidden and troopers came back empty-handed,” he said.  “While informing their commander about the escape of militants, troopers told us to prepare Lipton tea for them before their commander arrived at the scene as he would not allow them to take tea," he added.

“A Major tried to go upstairs in haste and was killed by militants along with the other trooper,” said another family member. “Troopers kept our whole family hostage for about an hour till two troopers were killed. We tried to escape but troopers were not allowing us. We lost property worth lakhs and our family head is still missing and our elder brother is in police custody,” she said.

A day after the encounter, the locals in Banyari village alleged that troopers forced them to clear the debris of the house razed in the gunfight.

“We were forced by the troopers to clear the debris under which they were expecting explosives, grenades and UBLs,” said a local, pleading anonymity. “We are helpless and can do nothing except speak before media people discretely.”

Troopers under whose supervision dozens of locals were cleaning the debris admitted that there was huge amount of explosives beneath. “There are mines, grenades, UBGLs and other unused explosives under the debris and locals are cleaning it,” said Mohan Singh, a subedar of CRPF. Family members of Mir alleged that troopers keeping vigil on the locals engaged in clearance of debris looted materials and valuables recovered.

Troopers are snatching every valuable item including mobile phones and cash,” said a local, adding, “We recovered a mobile phone and Rs 2500 cash from debris. The mobile phone was snatched by troopers while police took away the cash.”

“We are being threatened of dire consequences if we raise voice,” said a female member of the family. The affected family has appealed the higher-ups to intervene in the matter.  

KUPWARA MURDER MYSTERY 
TROOPER HAD KILLED DOLIPORA GIRL: POLICE

On September 5, holding Territorial Army man responsible for killing a girl at Doolipora Trehgam, police filed a charge sheet against the trooper in a local court. The girl identified Amina Masoodi, a BA final year student was found dead in mysterious circumstances inside her house during the night intervening July 08 and 09 this year. The incident evoked massive protest demonstrations with the locals and family members of the victim accusing Territorial Army trooper Ashiq Hussain of being involved in the incident. Police lodged an FIR no. 49/2009 under section 302,456,12B RPC and arrested the accused 160 TA trooper.

“During the course of investigation, police questioned the eyewitnesses which confirmed the presence of accused Ashiq Hussain Peer in the house of the complainant during the intervening night 8/9 July. It was also confirmed that he was absent from the Army camp of 160 TA BN during the said night,” SSP Kupwara 

He said police also recovered two cell phones bearing numbers 9797990180 and 9797226180 in the instant case. “The SMSs found in the “Inbox” of cell No. 9797226180 send from cell No 9797990180 further confirmed the presence of accused at the crime scene”.

“After thorough investigation and considering all the evidences - Oral, documentary and circumstantial - offence under section 302, 458 RPC were made out against Ashiq Hussain Peer son of Noor-ud-Din Peer resident of Herri Payeen Kupwara of 160 Territorial Army and charge sheet was produced against the accused in the court of law,” said SSP Kupwara, adding “Amina died because of Asphyxia and no symptoms of rape were found as per the FSL report”.

The police officer, however, ruled out the hand of army as an institution in the case. “The investigations revealed that army as an institution was not involved in the case as alleged,” he said.

The Inquiry Officer Shabir Ahmad Shah, who conducted the inquiry in record time and presented the challan and is presently posted as DSP (Hqrs) Shopian told media: “We have got enough evidence to prove the TA trooper was guilty of the crime. Although he refuted his presence at the crime scene, but a mobile phone recovered at the scene of crime and some of the message exchanged between the victim and the accused established his presence. Besides, his scanned Identity Card, which was recovered from the spot also helped in establishing his presence at the crime scene. Some of the eyewitnesses had also seen him at the place where the girl was killed.”

TERRITORIAL ARMY TO RAISE, ALL–WOMEN WING IN J&K
Sept 22: The Territorial Army, a reserve force of trained civilians for the Indian Army, proposes to raise two all-women battalions, and deploy one each in insurgency-hit areas of northeast and Jammu and Kashmir. The project has the defence ministry’s nod and is being given a final shape, sources said. At present, women can only join as doctors and nurses in the Territorial Army, which has a strength of 40,000, a report in Times of India said.

According to the report, the decision to deploy these battalions, around 300-women force, in counter-insurgency areas has been taken in view of an increasing number of women in militancy operations and to help deflect any kind of allegations of sexual abuse of local women by male soldiers, Rajouri-based spokesperson for TA unit of 38 Rashtriya Rifles said.

These battalions would primarily be used to investigate and interrogate women militants and female residents during counter-insurgency operations. They would also be deployed at the gates of fencing near Line of Control for checking the movement of local residents, especially women.

There are incidents when a lot of hue and cry is raised and allegations of human rights violations levelled against officers carrying out search operations in insurgency-hit villages, the officer added. There have been instances when suspected women militants have managed to escape when such ruckus is kicked up, the spokesman said.

With the deployment of women battalion, we would not only be able to curb militancy but our operation procedure would also become more transparent. The necessity to set up all-women TA battalion was felt when the security agencies observed that terror outfits were using women against them, he said. They have clear instructions from their mentors that once across the border, they are to rely heavily on women ground workers to hit out at security officials involved in counter-insurgency operations, he added. Many women have been arrested in the past, who worked as couriers and over ground workers of militants.

The Territorial Army is a voluntary part-time Citizens Army, consisting of people who are not professional soldiers but civilians eager to do their bit for the country’s defence. It acts as a reserve for the regular Army in times of need and draws men from the 18-42 age group.

On joining the TA, officers have to undergo mandatory training of arms handling and crisis management. In Jammu and Kashmir, the Army guards around 740 km of Line of Control (LoC) and the Border Security Force (BSF) 216 km of international border. The BSF has now inducted women battalions and deployed them along the border.

MILITARIZATION

· HIGH COURT DIRECTS DC TO PROBE LAND OCCUPATION BY ARMY

Sept 1: The High Court has directed the deputy commissioner Islamabad to conduct inquiry into the allegation levelled by farmers of Fatehgarh in Islamabad that army was occupying 300 kanals of apple orchards. The High Court directed the DC to appoint two officers to hold inquiry into the matter and if the inquiry proved the allegation, he should take necessary steps to end the occupation.

 A single bench of Justice Hakim Imtiyaz Hussain passed the directions on a petition filed by 40 land owners of Fatehgarh. They alleged that the army illegally occupied their land and now it was forcing them to sign certain documents. 

 The farmers through counsel advocate pleaded that 7 RR illegally occupied apple orchards spread over 300 kanals. He disclosed that the army first occupied 1881 kanals of kahcharai (grazing land owned by state) adjacent to the orchards. Soon after occupying the land, it stopped land owners from visiting the apple orchards, the counsel said. The years of neglect has caused severe damage to the trees. He said now the army was forcing the land owners to sign certain documents.

 The army in its objections have conceded of occupying 1881 kanals but said it was paying rent for the same. The army denied of occupying the proprietary land adjacent to kahcharai. However, the army counsel submitted in the Court that army had occupied the land adjacent to the state land.

 The Court after hearing arguments and perusal of all record directed the deputy commissioner Islamabad to constitute an inquiry into the matter. The Court directed that two officers of Revenue department should be entrusted to conduct the inquiry. The Court said the inquiry report should be submitted to the deputy commissioner for issuing the necessary orders. The High Court has given three months to the deputy commissioner.
· DISPLACED LOC MIGRANTS DENIED COMPENSATION

'GOVT PUSHING US INTO STARVATION'

Sept 2: Even after two decades, the successive regimes have failed to compensate the people forced by the army to vacate their property along the Line of Control in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district. Life took an ugly turn for Muhammad Kamal Bhat and dozens of other people of Keran Bore in 1990 when the army forced them to migrate from the LoC. 
“After exchange of shelling and firing here, the army forced us to migrate. We were not even given time to collect our valuables,” said Bhat who is presently putting up in his friend’s house at Miryal, 120 kms from his native place. Lone breadwinner of his family including ailing parents, Bhat is spearheading the movement to press for compensation to the affected people. He said they used to earn livelihood by farming on their proprietary land.

“Now we are hardly able to make our ends meet by working as labourers. We are on the verge of starvation,” said Bhat. He says the successive regimes had promised to compensate the affected people. “But it turned out to be mere promise,” he laments. After failing to get justice, the affected people had approached the then chief minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad, in 2008. Acting on their petition, the special secretary to CM, Ajaz Kakroo, had directed the deputy commissioner Kupwara to submit a report.

The report acknowledged that 17 families of Bore Keran and two families of Kumkadi Jumagand were displaced in 1990. “All their houses and landed property are under the occupation of army at the border. Up to December 2000, the families were given cash relief of Rs 1000 per family but thereafter it was stopped,” Kakroo states in the report.

He states that the deputy commissioner Kupwara had submitted that land could not be allotted to the affected persons due to non-availability of state land in Kupwara and Keran.The deputy commissioner had recommended purchase of six kanals of land at a cost of Rs 6-7 lakhs for allotment to the affected families. After perusal of the report, Kakroo recommended allocation of land and release of cash relief of Rs 1000 per family from 2002.

“But we are yet to receive our dues. The government misleads the Assembly saying the border migrants were duly compensated. Enough is enough. If government lingers on the matter, we’ll be forced to launch an agitation,” Bhat threatened. The under secretary to Government, Revenue department, on the directions of Ministry of Home Affairs, vide letter Rev/MR/11 dated September 9, 2008, had sought clarification from the deputy commissioner, Kupwara.

“Why they (affected families) didn’t go back (to their homes) when situation normalized? Which is the nodal authority for considering such proposal in the state government. Is it revenue or security related migration?” the Home Ministry had inquired.

The deputy commissioner of Kupwara, Showkat Ahmad, told media that government was committed to provide justice to the affected families. He said he along with the divisional commissioner had recently made on-the-spot assessment of Keran and assured justice to affected families.

“The Revenue department has been directed to furnish factual report regarding the bona fide affected families. We will examine the report and allot 10 Marlas of land to each family,” he added.
· TROOPS PRESENCE IN HANDWARA PDD OFFICE HAMPERS WORK

Sept 2: Army has been occupying the office of the Power Development Department at Chottipora Handwara for past 15 years. “Presence of troops has hampered the functioning of the department,” the PDD employees told media. They said that troops have occupied the control room of the receiving station. The executive engineer, P P Singh, said that presence of troops had hit the functioning of the department. “Our main entrance gate and two buildings are also under them,” he added.

“We prefer to stay away from the PDD office as troops manning the front gate don’t allow us to go inside before frisking us. Visitors have to deposit their identity cards at the entrance. One has to undergo a lot of humiliation before entering into the office,” locals said. The army has constructed bunkers and fenced the entire peripheries of the office with barbed wires. The PDD division which caters to the entire district is cornered in a small space.  

“Even the residential quarter meant for executive engineer is under the occupation of the troopers,” the employees said. A group of employees alleged that Army was not allowing them to store materials including wires, electric poles, and transformers inside. “We have to place the material on road as they have barred entry of vehicles inside the camp,” they said. 

Locals and PDD employees said that ammunitions near the receiving station pose a great threat to the area. “Even a minor spark can reduce the whole area into ashes,” they said. 

The deputy commissioner Kupwara, Showkat Ahmed said that he had taken up the issue with the Army.

The Member of the Legislative Assembly, Chaudary Muhammad Ramzan said, that he had raised the issue of militarization of government buildings and schools with the government as well in assembly. “People are suffering due to presence of Army in PDD building,” he added.

· CHESMASHAHI TOURIST HUTS OCCUPIED BY SENIOR BUREAUCRATS, SECURITY MEN

Sep 2: Under the occupation of senior bureaucrats and security officials for last 19 years, the residential huts at Cheshmashahi are yet to be utilized for the promotion of tourism. Prior to 1989, these huts were being used by the tourists. But after the eruption of militancy, the state government decided to accommodate the senior bureaucrats in the huts for security reasons when the government headquarters shifts from Jammu to Srinagar for the durbar move. Even some security officials have been accommodated in these huts.

 After the move offices shift to Jammu for winter, the huts again fall vacant. In winter some of these huts are used by tourists. But this does not help in generating more revenue as maximum number of visitors visit Kashmir during the peak tourist season in summer.

 Tourism minister Nawang Rigzin Jora said that keeping in view the potential of these assets towards revenue generation during peak tourism season, a proposal for phased de-hiring of these assets is under active consideration of the state government. He revealed this during the recent legislative assembly here. Jora added that the move would help promoting tourism in the state.

 According to the official data, total revenue generated from these huts from April 31, 2008 to March 31, 2009 is approximately Rs 2.48 crore which also includes Rs 4.30 lakh as rentals recovered from tourists who stayed in the huts during winters. The accommodation at Cheshmashahi is mostly provided to the tourists who visit the state only during winters. 

 Around 158 tourists from different places such as Delhi, Mumbai and Punjab including local visitors availed the accommodation facilities in the huts during 2008-09 for a total of 119 days. 

Amidst scenic splendour, Cheshmashahi huts—seven kilometers from Tourist Reception Centre (TRC), Srinagar—offer a unique accommodation. The facilities in all the huts range from the indoor kitchen and dinning hall to the well furnished sitting rooms. 

  The Cheshmashahi huts are the property of Tourism department and owned by one of its agencies -- J&K Tourism Development Corporation (JKTDC). JKTDC undertakes commercial activities like construction and management of accommodation facilities at tourist centres in the state, running of cafeterias, restaurants, organization of food festivals and tour and travel activities in and outside the state.

  
The minister justified the accommodating of senior bureaucrats and security officials in the huts. According to him, after the disturbance erupted here, the arrival of tourists to the valley decreased sharply and the huts remained vacant. 

 Rigzin added that as huge maintenance cost was involved, the government decided to utilize the assets or huts at Cheshmashahi for accommodating senior officers of the government who move with the Darbar Move to the valley during the summer months and this arrangement continues till date. Besides, certain huts were also provided to security and National Security Guards (NSG) of the Raj Bhawan throughout the year. This arrangement also persists till now.

 However, during winter months the huts are open for tourist use which is a negligible period to make use of these huts for commercial purposes and for promotion of tourism in the state, the minister said.
· GOVT TURNING SHOPIAN INTO GARRISON: MAJLIS

PEOPLE RESENT FRESH OCCUPATION OF 5600 KANALS

Sep 6: Resentment is brewing against the transfer of thousands of kanals of land to Army for establishing a camp in Shopian district. With Army chopping off trees on a portion of land two kilometers from Shopian town to establish a camp, the locals have threatened of massive agitation against the move.

"There is no question of allowing more troops to be camped in the area as rape and murder of Asia and Neelofar in the military dominated area has made it clear that such incidents occur only because of the presence of troops here. Allowing more troops to stay in the area means putting at stake honour and dignity of our women," said a resident Jahan Mansoor.

The residents said they will launch agitation if the government does not revoke its decision of selling about 5600 kanals of land to Army in the area.

"After the Shopian incident we thought that the government will remove both the Army and CRPF camps set up in the area wherefrom the two women were abducted and later raped, but it is a shame for the government that instead of removing the two camps it has decided to turn the entire Shopian into cantonment," the residents said, adding that they will not tolerate any such move.

Majlis-i-Mashawrat, which spearheaded the 46-day long agitation in Shopian for justice to the family of rape and murder victims, has also started informing people about the consequences of establishment of the army camp in the area.

"Establishing the camp over 6000 kanals of land means the government wants to convert the whole Shopian town into cantonment,” said Majlis spokesperson, Muhammad Shafi Khan. "We have started making people aware about the possible consequences of setting up of the camp," he added.

Stating that the people of Shopian will strongly agitate against the government decision, Khan said, "People here believe that involvement of top Army and CRPF officials prevents the government from coming out with the truth. There are rumours that the two women, Asia and Neelofar, were taken to the Army camp before being raped and murdered. Despite knowing all this, how can the residents of Shopian allow Army to establish the new camp in the area.”

· ARMY OCCUPYING SIKH FAMILIES’ ORCHARDS, LAND

‘THEY’VE RUINED OUR FERTILE LAND AND CHOPPED APPLE TREES’

Sept 7: For the past three years, the Sikh families of Deedarpora Langate in district Kupwara are struggling to get the rent for their orchards and land under the occupation of army. After army’s 30 Rashtriya Rifles moved in 2006 for setting up a camp on the land, the families are running from pillar to post to get the promised rent. Accusing the army of deceiving them, the affected families said that three years back the army usurped their land on the promise of handsome rent.

 “When we tried to resist their attempts they assured us exorbitant rent rates in front of Revenue authorities,” said village head, Onkar Singh.

 Septuagenarian Ragubir Singh, whose prized possession of orchards is under occupation, told media that they knocked the doors of every official and politician to get justice but all have failed them. “Most of the families whose land is under troops are battling for survival as they have no other source of income to fend their families. The villagers would grow apples and other crops on this land before army occupation,” he said.

 Another villager, Parmeet Singh, said that during first two months of occupation, troopers allowed them into the orchards but later they banned the owners entry in their ancestral land. “They have ruined our fertile land and chopped our apple trees after forcibly occupying it,” he added.

 Asking army to evacuate their land forthwith, residents said that they should be duly compensated for losses of past three years. “First they should pay rent and then leave our land,” said Onkar Singh, seconded by other villagers.

 
According to Revenue authorities, 79 kanals and 7 marlas of land including 13 kanals of government land is occupied by army in Deedarpora village. Tehsildar Handwara, Abdur Rashid, said they have prepared documents of rent case but ‘sanction is awaited.’
· TROOPERS’ PRESENCE ‘THREATENS’ GUREZ WILDLIFE

Sept 14: The Bandipora division of the Forest Department has rescued a Musk deer from the Rashtriya Rifles camp at Aloosa near Bandipora, as part of its drive to curb hunting of the endangered wildlife specie. “On a tip off, we rescued a Musk deer from the army camp,” a Wildlife Department official told media, adding the army had caught the deer from the local forest of Aloosa and kept it for rearing and breeding.

Residents of this landlocked area alleged the wildlife of Gurez was under a serious threat as the troopers deployed in the border area had been hunting the Musk deer. They said that the troopers had been caught umpteen times while hunting Musk deer in the area primarily to extract the invaluable Musk deer pod (kasturi naafa). They said the Musk deer pod was very precious as it had a very high aromatic value. It is used in making of perfumes, scents and other aromatic substances, they said. 

A resident of Dawar said “Till 1989, Musk deer were so abundant in the area that we could see them in hundreds roaming around the residential houses. However, with the heavy deployment of the army and paramilitary forces in the wake of military eruption in the state, hardly any Musk deer could be seen in the area as the troopers were out to hunt the Musk deer and smuggle their pod,” a resident pleading anonymity told media. 

He said the local people had persistently brought this serious issue to the notice of police, but the law enforcing authorities failed to take any action to prevent it. They alleged police had been covering up the indulgence by the troopers.

Sources said the poaching incidents by smugglers and other unscrupulous elements were taking place with the consent of army. At check points in alpine areas, the soldiers allow local shepherds to carry hunting accessories, who then provide them the meat and aroma derivates from Musk deer. They said all these poaching incidents happened under the nose of army as police had very less access to the border areas.

“It is posing threat to the valuable, albeit threatened, wildlife in the area and may even lead to the extinction of some species facing extinction,” they said. 

Talking to media, wildlife warden of north Kashmir, Abdul Rouf Zargar, said the border areas were under the control of regular army and our movement was restricted. “I can’t rule out the hunting of Musk deer in the Gurez valley,” he said adding the Department had inputs about the involvement and connection of local shepherds with poachers in hunting of Musk deer.
· CAMPUS TURNED GARRISON

BLA ITI STUDENTS SUFFER AS CRPF OCCUPATION CONTINUES

Sep 23: Fear prevails over Baramulla’s Industrial Training Institute (ITI).Students of the institute allege that the presence of troops has not only adversely affected their academic activities, but is also a cause of frequent inconveniences. Baramulla ITI has five campuses spread on 30 Kanals with four of them occupied by paramilitary CRPF’s 53 Battalion. Owing to the dearth of space following the occupation, the institute was forced to shift half of its trades to a rented house about three kilometers from the main campus.

Furthermore, the troops have also occupied the remaining land by constructing bunkers and erecting make-shift tents. As a result the engineering trade which requires an open space for training has come to on halt.

A teacher in the institute, wishing anonymity said, “They have already occupied 90 per cent of the campus. And now they are eying the remaining part of it too. They have unnecessarily constructed bunkers, garages, canteens, parks etc which makes it impossible for us to provide practical training to students particularly to the engineering trade students which requires an open space,” he added.

Mocking at the government assurances to remove troops from educational institutes, another teacher said, “The government should make its policy clear- either to close the institute and identify new land for it or to withdraw troops. The institute looks like a garrison and as if we are coming here for some security training.” 
The students allege humiliation at the hands of the troops. “While entering the campus, the 300 odd students and staff have to go through extensive security check ups where even female students and staff members have to remove their veils,” a student, wishing anonymity for fear of reprisal, said.

“While entering the campus they force us to remove the veil and enter our names in the log book,” a female student said, adding, “They also keep passing obscene remarks till we enter the class.”

The students also accuse the troops of eve-teasing. “While checking our bags they nudge us with their elbow and keep staring till we reach the campus,” another female student said.

Admitting the inconveniences caused by troops, principal of ITI, G M Bhat said, “I have taken up the issue with the administration many a times, but to no avail. Many times I took up the issue with the Deputy Commissioner, but he said it was beyond his limits. However, he assured me that he will take the matter with higher authorities.” 

Terming the allegations as baseless, CRPF spokesman Prabhakar Tripathi said: “There is no question of harassment and eve-teasing and we didn’t grab any further land. Whatever the state government has allotted us in 1992, we have only that much under our occupation.”   

About the prospects of evacuation of campus, Tripathi said: “Since the state government has failed to provide us with alternative land so we could not shift from the campus. If the government would have been interested in getting the institute vacated, they could have shifted us from there,” he added.
· ARMY CAMP REMOVED FROM HANDWARA

Sep 19: Conceding to the demand of the local residents and legislator, army relocated Chotipora camp from the North Kashmir’s Handwara Township. The Chotipora camp belonged to 7 sector, 21 RR and people of the area since long had been demanding the removal of the camp. 

On July 7, 2009 the locals staged a 24 hour dharna outside the picket-situated inside electric division Handwara. The district administration and army officials signed a six point pact on July 8.
 “People have heaved sigh of relief after the removal of Chotipora camp, the residents said.  Reports said in  night hours people were not allowed to move through the camp. They used to erect barricades and concertina wires all across the road to hamper the movement of people. The locals said, during land agitation in 2008, a lady was killed after firing by troopers of the Chotipora camp.

WITHDRAWAL ANNOUNCEMENTS
· 'ARMY TO WITHDRAW 39 MOUNTAIN DIVISION FROM JK'

Sept 1: An army division, comprising around 15,000 troops, is being withdrawn from Jammu and Kashmir and some of its units have already returned to its base in Himachal Pradesh, a senior army officer said. On withdrawal of 39 Mountain Division from Rajouri and Poonch border districts to its base in Palampur in Himachal Pradesh, General Officer Commanding (GOC), 9 Corps Lt Gen G M Nair here said, “This division is being shifted. Some of its units have already reached its base in HP.”

The shifting of the division from the districts in Jammu and Kashmir comes close on the demand of separatists and opposition PDP to withdraw troops from the state in view of the improved security situation there. “The entire division has not been moved fully so far. It will take some time,” the GOC said. 39 Mountain Division was shifted to Rajouri and Poonch districts to assist joint security grid in conducting counter insurgency operations and undertake counter infiltration measures in 1994.

However, the Division was later shifted to Palampur. But during the Operation Parakaram, it was moved back to Rajouri-Poonch region in Jammu and Kashmir, another senior army official said.

“It takes nearly six months to shift the entire Division,” he said, adding the process is on. On security situation along the International Border with Pakistan and in the areas under 9 Corps spreading from Jammu to Himachal Pradesh, he said “no infiltration had taken place in their sector and the situation is stable”.

Gen Nair said “for the last some years, enhanced security measures have been taken in an understanding with the Border Security Force to foil infiltration bids.” “We have adequate security and counter infiltration mechanism installed along the border with Pakistan,” he said.

Referring to spilling over of militancy to bordering Himachal Pradesh, Gen Nair said troops have been deployed in entire Chamba, Bani and Machadi areas and patrolling has been intensified to foil any such design by militants to shift their activities to the state. 

· 35 CRPF COMPANIES WITHDRAWN AFTER AUG 15

Sept 5: As many as 654 companies of the central Paramilitary Forces, besides Jammu and Kashmir police and Army have been deployed in the state for counter-insurgency operations and other security related arrangements. However, 35 companies of Central Reserve Police Force have been withdrawn from different parts of the state after August 15, official sources said.

However, no withdrawal was made from north Kashmir, including Baramulla. They said 519 companies of CRPF had been deployed in Jammu and Kashmir for counter- insurgency operations, protection of vital installations and VIPs. Of them, nearly 400 companies are in the Kashmir valley, the most affected among all the three regions of the state. Sources said that 21 companies of the CRPF were recently withdrawn from the Kashmir valley. The process of withdrawing started after the August 15 speech of the chief minister, Omar Abdullah, they said.

However, these withdrawals were made from Central and South Kashmir, leaving other areas untouched. They said despite announcement made by the government that CRPF would be replaced by the state police in the Baramulla town after firing on procession left two youths dead on June 30, nothing has changed on the ground.

CRPF remained deployed in the town for law and order and counter-insurgency operations, a report from the town said. Sources said 112 companies of BSF and 23 companies of Indo Tibetan Border Police still remained deployed in the state. Sources said some CRPF companies were also being withdrawn from Jammu region. They will be replaced by the Indian Reserve Police in the near future. However, the exact number of Army deployed for counter-insurgency operations in the state was not known.

· NOTHING TO CHEER ABOUT CRPF WITHDRAWAL

PUNJAB POLICE COMING TO J&K

Sep 10: There is nothing to cheer about withdrawal of CRPF from Jammu and Kashmir as it is being replaced by the Punjab police, notorious for its poor human rights track record while tackling insurgency in the neighboring state. In the initial phase of replacement two battalions from Punjab have arrived in Kathua and Samba districts of Jammu region and more are in offing.

 "Two battalions from Punjab and Haryana have reached Kathua and Samba," Inspector General of Police Jammu region Ashok Gupta confirmed to media. He said the Punjab police will perform the same duty as CRPF. "Whatever CRPF was doing, this police has to do the same," Gupta added.

Official sources said that these two districts are a litmus test and Punjab police is likely to be deployed in the valley too after the durbar move. "The matter has been discussed with the former ADGP of the state and now the Punjab police chief PS Gill. It has been agreed in letter and spirit," sources said. "The centre has agreed to the withdrawal of CRPF from valley," added the source.

The operational strategy of Punjab police has also been taken into consideration. "They were successful in tackling the militancy in Punjab and policy makers say they will be fruitful in tackling militancy here," official source said. 

As soon as Omar took over the reins of the government, CRPF killed three persons in Baramulla district of North Kashmir and one in Dooru area of Anantnag when they fired upon on protest rallies. He announced that withdrawal of CRPF will be carried out initially from Baramulla and then gradually from other districts, particularly from Srinagar. He also announced that more IRP battalions of Jammu and Kashmir police will be raised for the replacement of CRPF. He advocated greater role of police.

Public Relations Officer CRPF Prabhakar Tripathi said, as yet they have no such information. However, some police battalions from neighboring states are being brought to the state.

A senior police officer in Srinagar said after the darbar move there are chances of replacement. However, he did not hesitate to add that the senior police officers in the valley are not favouring the move. 

On July 1, chief minister Omar Abdullah chaired the meeting of unified headquarter in Srinagar and directed the top officers of security wings to come up with a plan in 10 days for the phased replacement of Central Reserve Police Force personnel by local police in law and order duty. However, he later changed his stand and recently he stated that CRPF cannot be withdrawn overnight from the valley. 

During militancy period from 1984 to 1995 in Punjab, the Punjab police allegedly detained, tortured, killed in custody, and "disappeared" an estimated 25,000 Sikhs in the context of counter-insurgency operations. It was also alleged that a system of rewards for Punjab police for the capture of militants led to an increase in "disappearances" and extrajudicial executions. 

IKHWANI GETS DEATH PENALTY

HAD MURDERED 5 LOLAB RESIDENTS IN 1997

On September 2, in a landmark judgment, Principal District and Sessions Judge Kupwara, Rasheed Ali Dar sentenced a government gunman Ghulam Mohuiddin Wani to death for murdering five civilians of Lolab in 1997.

Earlier public prosecutor Ghulam Muhammad Shah convinced the judge in the light of the law that the accused Ghulam Mohuiddin Wani son of Nabir Wani of Walkul village of Tekipora Lolab deserves death penalty as the case was rarest of rare. The judge agreed with the public prosecutor and sentenced the accused to death.

The judgment read that the convict is sentenced to death for offences under section 302 read with 34 RPC. He shall also undergo life imprisonment for offense under section 449 RPC. It adds that the death sentence is subject to confirmation of the High Court as envisaged by section 374 Cr PC. “Subject to the confirmation of the High Court, it is directed in terms of section 368 Cr PC that the convict be hanged till death. 

Mohuiddin was awarded death penalty for murdering four family members and a policeman in a village at Lolab in March 1997.

Mohuiddin was working for 118 Battalion of BSF and was then posted at Dorsa Lolab with his accomplices from BSF and Ikhwan. He had allegedly shot dead Muhammad Yousuf Ganai, his wife Guljan Begum, two children Muhammad Haneef Ganai, 15, Nasser Ahmad Ganai, 12, and a policeman Muhammad Ishaq Bhat of the same village during the intervening night of March 16 and 17 in 1997 in their respective homes.

The relatives of the murdered family filed a case against the Ikhwani and his colleagues and subsequently Police Station Lalpora registered an FIR No 49 of 1997 under section 302, 449 and 34 RPC and arrested the Ikhwani.Muhammad Ishaq’s father Abdul Gani Bhat, 60, told media that they had been waiting for justice for the past 13 years.

Happy with the judgment, locals said Mohuiddin was notorious Ikhwani and had unleashed a reign of terror in the area at the behest of BSF men of Dorsa camp. Police had produced 13 witnesses into the case and all the statements of witnesses corroborated with the facts and evidences of the massacre of five innocent persons.

MAN KILLED BY CRPF BUNKER’S ELECTRIFIED BARBED WIRE

FAMILY DEMANDS MAGISTERIAL INQUIRY, SEEKS COMPENSATION

Sep 9: Widow of Fayaz Ahmad Bhat of Bemina who died in July 2009 due to electric shock caused by the wires put up around a CRPF bunker has approached the High Court with a petition demanding a magisterial inquiry and seeking compensation from CRPF and PDD for negligence.

Fayaz Ahmad Bhat, an employee in the Irrigation Department, was on his routine duty in the Bemina area of Srinagar on July 23. The officials were measuring a drain passing in front of a CRPF Bunker of 24 Battalion at Hamdania Colony of Bemina. Thirty two-year-old Fayaz of Khalidabad, Bhagat accidentally grasped electrified barbed-wire fencing of a CRPF bunker and died on the spot. 

Subsequently, an FIR No.164/2009 was registered in Police station Parimpora, Srinagar under section 304A (Causing death by Negligence) while as the death certificate of Fayaz was issued on 28 July. As it was a case of pure negligence on part of CRPF and the PDD, the widow of Fayaz, Shahnaz Akhtar has approached High Court and filed a suit against 24 Battalion CRPF and PDD through  her Counsel Advocate M Ashraf Wani.

Talking to media Advocate Ashraf Wani said, “In the suit we have prayed before the HC that magisterial inquiry be initiated to speed up the investigation into the case so that the responsibility is fixed. We have also sought compensation from CRPF and PDD for negligence to the tune of rupees ten lakh and prayed before the HC to direct the police to speed up the investigation. It is a pure case of negligence as Fayaz died due to an electric shock caused by the barbed bunker fence that was electrified and left there without any warning sign.”
In the suit filed, the petitioner has made State Chief Secretary, Commissioner Secretary Power, Executive Engineer, PDD, DG, CRPF, Commandant 24, Battalion CRPF and SSP Srinagar as parties. The Court has issued notices to these parties to file their objections on the next date of hearing slated for next week.

SOLDIERS BEATS UP DRIVER IN HANDWARA

‘TROOPERS SNATCH OUR VEHICLES’; ARMY DENIES

Sept 13: The drivers in Handwara observed strike against thrashing of their colleague and hijacking of vehicles by the troopers of Rashtriya Rifles. Furious over the thrashing of their colleague by troopers of 21 Rashtriya Rifles on Sept 12, the drivers refused to ply vehicles on Handwara –Rajwar road and staged protests. However, army denies the allegations.

“The troopers asked driver Abdul Majid Khan to carry flour to their company at Wadder. But he sought fare and on this troopers brought down flour from his vehicle. The trooper who has assumed a Muslim name, Jameel, rang up his colleagues and got the driver beaten at Wadder. He received injuries due to merciless thrashing,” the protesting drivers told media. They alleged that hijacking of Sumo and mini-buses by the troopers for anti-militancy operations has become a routine in Rajwar area and the town for last 19-years.

“Army has issued us diktat to keep Sumos and mini-buses at their disposal in Zachaldara, Yamrad and Wadder for their nocturnal movement. They don’t pay us single penny in return,” said a driver Mushtaq Ahmed. “We have mortgaged our educational certificates to get loans for purchasing vehicles to earn livelihood. But we are hardly earning as they take away vehicles most of the times,” he added.

 The drivers said that they have to seek green signal from troopers to enter in the area during the daytime. “This is not a border area, where vehicles need permission for movement How can they put entry system here,” asked another driver, Fayaz Ahmed. “They have also put our lives at stake and the fear of death always lurks on, when Army boards the vehicles,” he added.

SP Handwara, Muhammed Rafiq Vakil said he had raised the issue with the army. Srinagar based PRO Defence Col Uma Maheshwar termed the allegations baseless. “The incident is not true,” he said.

NAYEEM SEEKS PROBE INTO KATHUA JAIL ‘HORRORS’

‘POLITICAL DETAINEES TREATED LIKE CRIMINALS’

Sept 1: Detained under the Public Safety Act, senior pro-freedom leader and chairman of National Front, Nayeem Khan, revealed that Kashmiri detainees lodged in Kathua Jail were subjected to inhuman treatment. He demanded an impartial probe into the sub-human conditions prevailing in the prison. After serving detention for the past three months, Khan was recently shifted to the Valley under Court directions in view of his falling health. On way to the hospital from Ram Munshi Bagh police station, where he is lodged at present, Khan told media that Kashmiri detainees were being treated like criminals in the jail.

“The pro-freedom leaders and Kashmiri detainees are being lodged with criminals and rapists. Adding insult to the injury, the autocratic jail authorities deny them proper food and medicare in violation of the jail manual,” said a visibly frail and weak Khan. Khan was arrested in October last year during the Amarnath land row under the PSA with one of the amazing grounds being “playing pivotal role in uniting the two factions of Hurriyat Conference.” Khan’s detention was revoked by the government in February this year but he was continuously kept under house arrest for over two months. In June, he was booked under fresh PSA and shifted to Kathua jail.

Khan said he was kept in a cell with no ventilation. “It was unbearable to stay there in scorching 48 degree Celsius heat. The jail has been converted into a torture chamber for Kashmiri detainees,” he alleged, adding the detainees were also denied legal aid. “This deflates the balloon of so-called Indian democracy.” Khan said, demanding an impartial probe into the atrocities being perpetrated on Kashmiris detainees.

“There must be a free and fair independent probe into the inhuman treatment of Kashmiri detainees. I appeal to the international human rights organizations to take cognizance of the grave issue,” he said.

Pertinently, in its annual report for 2007-08, the State Human Rights Commission had expressed serious concern over the lack of facilities in various jails, including Jammu division’s Kathua jail. On the basis of its on-the-spot visit to various jails, the Commission revealed that the detainees and under-trials were not produced before Courts for their scheduled hearings. The relatives of many Kashmiri youth lodged in Kathua jail accused the authorities of subjecting them to third-degree torture in a separate chamber.

“They are being ruthlessly beaten and left in injured condition for days together. The autocratic jail authorities force them to cook food and undertake arduous jobs while rapists and murders from Jammu are treated like guests. This is sheer discrimination and a human rights violation,” they said.

They said the jail authorities didn’t allow Kashmiri detainees to offer congregational prayers. “Our wards told us that the jail authorities plucked off beard of an Imam of Baramulla. Some criminals attacked a Kashmiri detainee lodged in the jail for the past 14 years, and when his colleagues tried to stop them, the policemen ruthlessly thrashed them,” the relatives of detainees added.

They demanded transfer of the superintendent of the jail, Vinod Anand. “It is ironical that the said official has not been transferred for the past eight years.”  

PSA A STATE INSTRUMENT

· IF OUT, SHAH WILL BE SECURITY THREAT: GOVT

Sep 14: Perceiving detained Hurriyat Conference (M) leader and Democratic Freedom Party chairman Shabir Shah as the biggest threat to the security of the State, the State government has opined that his released can ‘adversely affect the semblance of normalcy in Valley.’ This has been revealed by the recent detention order passed against Shah, who was again booked under PSA.

The detention order No: DMS/PSA/36/2009 dated September 5, 2009 signed by District Magistrate Srinagar states, “In case you (Shah) gets released at this point of time, there are well founded reports that you will again indulge in similar secessionist activities as you have been doing in the past.” 

Shah’s PSA detention order further reads, “The overall security scenario prevailing in the State in general and in the Valley in particular, which has assumed a semblance of normalcy, is sure to get adversely effected if you are allowed to remain at large.” 

The order, copy of which lies with Rising Kashmir further states, “ Keeping in view the above facts, it is clear that your (Shah’s) activities are highly prejudicial to the maintenance of security of the State and warrant immediate preventive measures to prevent the society from violence, Hartaal, economic adversity and social indiscipline.”

District magistrate Srinagar Mehraj-ud-Din Kakroo states, “On the basis of the aforementioned activities, I have reached to the conclusion that it would be expedient to detain you under the provisions of J&K Public Safety Act, 1978.”

Shabir Shah was detained under PSA on August 20, 2008 after taking part in “Muzaffarabad Chalo” March during the land agitation last year. After his detention grounds were quashed by the High Court, the government again slapped PSA against him on December 8, 2008, which was later revoked by the Court. He was released on May 22, 2009 but was re-arrested on June 8 and fresh PSA slapped against him. The Court quashed his third PSA on August 4 but he was not released and instead again booked under infamous PSA (4th time) on September 9.

His counsel told media that the charges levelled against him in the fresh PSA are more or less the same as mentioned in the earlier detention orders.

· MINOR PSA DETAINEE WALKS FREE

Sept 23: The 14 year old boy of Rainawari who was arrested and later booked under Public Safety Act in June this year was released on September 20 on the directions of the High Court.Nayeem Ahmad Dar son of Bashir Ahmad was arrested on June 7 and detained at Rainawari Police Station. After two days, his family was informed that he has been booked under the PSA on charges of stone pelting. He was shifted to Poonch jail. Nayeem was previously detained on May 24, 2008 for his alleged involvement in stone pelting. That time he was released on bail. Nayeem’s mother, Shameema Begum challenged his PSA and detention. The HC quashed his PSA on September 15. 

 Nayeem’s father, Bashir Ahmad, told media that they had to spend Rs one lakh for his release. “We had to spend Rs. 5000 on every visit to meet Nayeem in the jail. We met several politicians for his release but no one came to our rescue.”

 Recounting his ordeal, Nayeem said, “I was called by SHO police station, Rainawari and later detained. I was kept in the Police Station for nearly a week and then my parents were told to get my clothes as PSA was slapped on me. I was shifted to Poonch jail.”

 “In jail, they used to keep me in a hall with 34 other inmates. I was kept in lock up for 12 hours and then in jail courtyard for the rest of the time. I’m delighted to be back home with my family,” he said.  

· MASRAT BOOKED FOR BEING ‘SECESSIONIST’

Sept 16: The chairman Jammu and Kashmir Muslim League, Masrat Alam Bhat, has been detained under the Public Safety Act and charged with being a ‘secessionist element’. He is already under arrest. According to the grounds of detention issued by deputy commissioner, Me’raj Ahmad Kakroo, Bhat has been detained under PSA for a slew of reasons.

 “You hail from down town part of city and it appears that you have inherited the anti-national sentiments and secessionist ideology as most of the secessionist elements of the area have been found harping on same ideology,” the PSA dossier reads.

 “You were arrested in 1990 and were detained under PSA. After your release you recycled into secessionist activities and joined Muslim League, an organization with secessionist agenda… you were instrumental in making large number of released militants to join Muslim League and indulged in sponsoring strikes and instigating the general public to resort to violence,” it adds.

 “You have good organizational and oratory skills…you were one of the organizers of rally in Eidgah on April 22, 2007 in which a FIR 70/2007 has been registered in police station Safa Kadal.”

 The High Court had quashed his PSA last month but he was re-arrested by CIK in connection with a case FIR No 01/2009.

 “It is clear that your activities are highly prejudicial to the maintenance of security of the state. I’ve reached to the conclusion that it would be expedient to detain you under the provisions of J&K PSA, 1978, for which orders are being issued separately,” the deputy commissioner says in the dossier.

BRIEFS 

· POLICE CLAIMS ARREST OF STONE PELTER, FAMILY DENIES CHARGE

Sep 1: Police arrested one more youth from old town Baramulla on the charges of stone pelting in the district. Police sources said that Sajad Ahmad son of Nazir Ahmad Khan of Jamia Mohalla in the old town of Baramulla was arrested by police for creating law and order problem and pelting stones on troops and police. 

Ahmad, sources said, was arrested by police when he was on his way back after attending the daily work at Beopar Mandal in the town. They said Ahmad was lodged at the police station before being shifted to Udhampur Jail Tuesday morning (Sept 1).

Ahmad’s father, Nazir Ahmad Khan said that his son was not a stone pelter but working as a clerk with the Beopar Mandal in the town. “My son was arrested by police when he was returning home last evening,” he said. Khan further said police arrested him on the fake charges of stone pelting. “My son is not a stone pelter. He may have taken part in the processions but if he has been detained on those charges then police must round up people from entire district,” he added.  

· POLICE ARRESTS 10 FOR SETTING ARMY VEHICLE ABLAZE

Sept 17: Police arrested 10 persons accused of setting two army vehicles ablaze on September 7 this year, when a minor girl was crushed to death by an 13 Rashtriya Rifles vehicle. Police has arrested Javid Ahmad Parray resident of Wangipora, Parveez Ahmad Malik of Bhat Mohalla Sumbal, Muhammad Amin Gojri of Sumbal, Abid Hussain Reshi of Nesbal, Firdous Ahmad Bhat of Bhat colony Sumbal, Zahoor Ahmad Ahanger of Bhat Mohalla, Sumbal, Shafat Ahmad Reshi of Tengipora, Hilal Ahmad Wani of Wangipora payeen, Bashir Ahmad Malik of Bhat Mohallla and Ghulam Nabi Dhoobi of Arampora Sumbal.

 
While talking to media, deputy superintendent of police Sumbal, Tahir Saleem, said police had got a list of 40 persons from army, who were accused of setting army vehicles ablaze. “We had arrested 10 persons in this connection and were investigating the case,” he said.

· MILITANTS KILL WOMAN
Sept 21: Militants shot dead a woman and injured her sister in Kangan area of Ganderbal district in Central Kashmir last night. “Some unidentified militants barged into the house of Abdul Ahad Khan at Batpora-Akhaal in Kangan area of Ganderbal district and fired upon her daughter Dilshada," a police spokesman said.

Dilshada was killed on the spot while his another daughter Rohee sustained injury when she was struck by bullet in her right hand thumb. She was rushed to hospital for treatment where she is stable. Police has registered a case in this regard.

· HIGH COURT ALLOWS BAR TEAM TO VISIT JAILS

Sept 23: The High Court directed the director general prisons to provide detailed information about all prisoners languishing in different jails outside the state to the High Court Bar Association and allow them to visit the jails. The Bar Association President, Mian Qayoom in a petition pleaded that the team members intended to visit the jails to gather full information about the detainees. 

 
Qayoom told media that he had pleaded before the Court that the members would like to interact with the under trial detainees and those serving detention under Public Safety Act. He said detainees lodged in many jails were serving sentence from many years and hadn’t received any legal help.

 “The Bar intends to collect the information about such detainees so that they can aid them legally,” Qayoom said. He said there were many detainees against whom the criminal proceedings were going on in different courts. “After their arrest, these detainees haven’t been produced in the court for many years,” he said while terming the step as illegal. 

 Qayoom said the Bar intended to get the information about the number of such detainees who hadn’t been produced in the Court and what were the reasons thereof. He said the visiting team would also assess whether the authorities were following the jail manual with respect to the providing of medicare and recreational facilities to the inmates. He said the Bar members in the Court were challenging the detention of those booked under PSA, but there were detainees who were yet to receive the legal aid, which the Association members intend to provide at an earliest. 

 The Bar Association president said after hearing his pleas, the Court allowed the visit of Bar members to the jails in and outside State. The Court also directed the DG Prisons of JK and other states to provide all the details about the inmates to the visiting team. He said Court instructed the Registrar General to apprise the respective DG Prisons through fax.  

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· NO DEADLINE FOR TROOP WITHDRAWAL: CM  

Sept 1: Chief Minister Omar Abdullah said withdrawal of troops from Jammu and Kashmir was an ongoing process and no time limit had been set for it. “It is an ongoing process. At least six CRPF battalions have been removed and two Indian Reserve Battalions have been inducted… it is an ongoing process… there is no deadline,” Abdullah told reporters after meeting Union Home Minister P Chidambaram here. He said the State government might change the Standard Operating Procedure for the CRPF. 

Abdullah said the two attacks on August 31 on CRPF troopers in Kashmir valley were raised during the meeting with Chidambaram. Asked if there was any security lapse on August 31 attacks in which two troopers were killed; Abdullah said initial information suggested the SOP had not been followed properly.

“We did discuss the two incidents involving troops. Clearly, some changes in the SOPs which have been laid down need to be effective. Instructions have been given which need to be circulated down the line. A little more strengthening is required, which is being done,” he said.

· TROOP WITHDRAWAL SUBJECT TO SECURITY IMPROVEMENT: OMAR

Sept 6: Warning that vested elements were hell-bent on creating an atmosphere of mistrust against the army and advocating revocation of Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA), Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Omar Abdullah said the army will return to its barracks only when the situation improves in the state.

"Stay of the army depends on the ground situation and as the situation improves the army will definitely go back to barracks in Jammu and Kashmir," Abdullah said while addressing a 'Fauji Mela' organized by the 25 Infantry Division in Rajouri.

· GOVT PROVIDES US LAND, BUILDINGS: TROOPS  

Sept 6: Refuting the state government’s statement that out of 10.5 lakh kanal only 2 lakh kanal has been given on lease to the troops and the rest has been occupied by them, top military officials have said that all the land under their use has been acquired by the state government for them. A top army official based in Udhampur based northern command said the army arrived in Jammu and Kashmir on the request of the state government.

“The state government requested the centre to deploy army to fight the militancy,” the official said, adding, “Later the land used for operational procedures across the state on emergency basis was acquired during the decisions of Union High Command meeting that followed”. The official said the army never gets involved in the land occupation.

“We have Defense Estate Officer (DEO) in each region. He is the custodian of army land,” official said, adding, “Whenever we have to acquire land, DEO requests the state.” The official added there was no illegal occupation of land as such.

“It was actually state government who made land available for us in the state,” he said. The official, however, added that there was some land whose papers are under process.

“We have sent the files for proper takeover. The files containing land paper are still lying with the state government. So it might be referring that land illegal,” he said. The official said Army is paying hefty rent for its land under occupation. “We have even increased the rent,” he said.

The government had earlier disclosed that various security agencies have occupied 10.5 lakh kanals of land. It said two lakh kanals have been leased out to army and paramilitary forces while the rest have been occupied by them.

Paramilitary CRPF spokesman Prabhakar Tripathi said state government does all the arrangements for them. “All the land and building in use of CRPF has been arranged by government,” Tripathi said. He said they approach state police for logistics who then forward the request to the government. “We have no role to play in land taking and other things,” Tripathi said. 

“We produce occupation certificates and state government then pays to land and building owners,” he said. He added that several areas like CRPF headquarters and recruitment grounds have been taken on lease.

“Actually the CRPF has come to valley on the request of state government. Hence they have to make all the arrangements,” Tripathi said, adding, “If the state government asks us to shift from the occupied land and buildings, we would do that”.

DIG BSF Kashmir Frontiers, SK Singh said wherever they are in temporary possession of land, state government has acquired it for them. “We can not construct permanent structures on it,” Singh said, adding, “The state compensates the land owners by giving them money for that”.

Singh said when land was acquired by BSF for operational procedures in 1990’s, it too was provided by concerned district administration.

“Permanent locations like our recruiting centres and headquarters are acquired on lease from government,” he said. He said BSF was authorized to perform duty in Kashmir only after the state administration approached the Home Ministry.  

· NO TROOP WITHDRAWAL: ARMY 

Sep 11: Confusion persists over unconfirmed reports of withdrawal of the troops in phased manner from the state of Jammu & Kashmir but army totally denied any such move. 

The United News India (UNI) carried a report that the government is understood to have begun withdrawal of army from the Kashmir valley with 10,000 troops to be removed in the first phase. The Public Relations Officer (PRO) Ministry of Defence in Jammu Lt Colonel Biplab Nath completely denied the reports of withdrawal of the troops either from Kashmir valley or Jammu region. He, however, said that there are no such reports of withdrawal of Army division from the valley, which has been released by the UNI. "I have checked the news from my counterparts in valley and they had denied such reports", he added. 

The 39th division of the army troops, which was sent to Jammu and Kashmir during Operation Prakaram, was being completely withdrawn and sent back to its "peace location" in Dalhousie.

One brigade of 39th division had already been sent to Dalhousie. The remaining two brigades of the Division were also being withdrawn gradually, they said.

· SECURITY SITUATION IMPROVING IN JK: PC

‘POLICE OFFICIALS BEING KICKED LIKE FOOTBALL’

Sept 14: The Home minister, P Chidambaram, said that security situation in Jammu and Kashmir was improving steadily, but he asked police and other security agencies to remain vigilant to foil any plan of the militants to step up violence in the state.

Addressing the inaugural session of the 3-day conference of director generals of Police and inspector generals of police, he said, “There has been a steady improvement in the security situation of Jammu and Kashmir, but forces cannot afford to lower the guard as militant threat still prevails.”

Chidambaram claimed that attempts were being made to reorganize the militant groups in Pakistan to “escalate violence” in J&K. “Our forces have to remain vigilant and foil their designs,” he added.

The Home minister described “cross border terrorism” as a matter of deep concern for India. “Militant groups like Lashkar-e-Toiba and Jaish-e-Muhammad continue to innovate new ways and means to continue their subversive activities in the country. These groups have found support from disgruntled elements within India,” Chidambaram added.

He said police and other security agencies busted 12 modules in 2008 while 13 had been busted in first half of this year. “India cannot tolerate terrorism. Security forces and police have to act in a proactive manner to fight terror,” he added.

· 'TURMOIL' IN J&K WORRISOME: PM 

Sept 15: Prime Minister Dr. Manmohan Singh dscribed as "worrisome" attempts by secessionist and militant groups in Jammu and Kashmir to create an impression of turmoil. He also alleged that infiltration across the Line of Control (LoC) and also via other routes such as Nepal, Bangladesh and the sea was going up. 

Addressing the state police chiefs, intelligence officials on the concluding day of the two-day conference organized by the Intelligence Bureau (IB), Dr. Singh said while the levels of violence in Jammu and Kashmir had come down to the lowest, there were certain worrisome developments. Maintaining that encounters with armed militants have become more frequent in recent weeks and months, Prime Minister said secessionist and militant groups were once again attempting to make common cause with outside elements, an obvious reference to Pakistan.

He also blamed them for series of protest movements. "The intention apparently is to create an impression of widespread turmoil in the State. We must not and I repeat we must not allow such a situation to develop. It is imperative that these disruptive efforts are contained, controlled and effectively checked," he added. In the same breath, he said there were reasons to be satisfied that both Assembly and Lok Sabha elections in the state were held in a peaceful manner and that the level of violence is "perhaps at its lowest levels" since the beginning of insurgency in the late 80's. 

· OCT, NOV ARE CRUCIAL: ARMY  

Sep 17: Claiming that around 300 militants are waiting across the Line of Control for an opportunity to infiltrate into India, Ministry of Defence has stated that next two months will be very crucial.  

“The militants have been spotted moving in batches from place to place along the LoC apparently in search of vulnerable spots from where they could infiltrate into Jammu and Kashmir, Defence Ministry sources said. They said the attempt was to push in as many militants as possible before the onset of winter when snowfall will make the mountainous terrains impregnable. "The next two months are crucial," they said, expecting a jump in the infiltration attempts.

Army has killed at least 25 militants while foiling these infiltration attempts last month and these encounters took place at points along the LoC.

Defence Ministry sources said the 300-odd militants were at present camping at around 30 places all along the LoC, most of which were located in PaK. "They are camping in concrete structures, mostly houses. These camps are not huts. These camps have been clearly identified by Indian security forces," they said.

· MILITANCY IS NOT OVER: DGP  

‘899 POLICEMEN, 468 SPOS KILLED IN 20 YRS’

Sep 23: Director General of Police, Kuldeep Khoda said the militancy has not ended in Jammu and Kashmir. “The militancy has not ended. It is there. We are dealing with it,” Khoda told mediamen at Police headquarters during a press brief. He said the infiltration from across the border continues unabated.

However, DGP said militancy related incidents have significantly come down and are witnessed a steady decline. He said during 20 years of violence, 899 policemen were killed. “468 SPOs also lost their lives in the State after the eruption of militancy in 1989,” he said.  

A senior police official while acknowledging the sudden spurt in militant violence said, “The militants are present in the Valley and doing their activities. We need to adopt pro-active strategies to eliminate them”. Police claims that 700-800 militants are currently active in the state.  

EXPLOSIONS

· JUDGE’S RESIDENCE ATTACKED

Sept 8: A policeman was injured in a grenade explosion in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district. Unknown persons hurled a grenade towards the official residence of the principal district and sessions judge, Muhammad Nazir Fida, in Baramulla town the device exploded with a big bang injuring a police constable, Muhammad Iqbal (belt No 396.) He suffered splinter injuries on his forehead. He was rushed to a hospital where his condition was stated to be out of danger.

· SOPORE POLICE STATION ATTACKED, GRENADE EXPLOSION IN KARAN NAGAR

Sept 9: At least four persons, including two paramilitary CRPF troopers a policeman and a civilian were injured when suspected militants fired a riffle grenade at Sopore Police Station this afternoon, police said. The grenade landed the roof top of the police station injuring two CRPF men, Sandeep and Antool of 179th battalion, a police constable Muhammad Rafiq and a civilian, Muhammad Shafi.

 The injured were rushed to a nearby sub-district hospital from where Shafi and constable Rafiq were referred to Srinagar for specialized treatment as their condition was stated to be “critical”, sources said.

Meanwhile, unknown persons lobbed a grenade adjacent to a CRPF camp in Karan Nagar, police said. The device exploded in the compound of the house of Noor Muhammad Khan, a businessman, barely a few meters from the CRPF headquarters of 49th battalion in the area, a police official said. “The grenade was apparently meant to target the CRPF camp but it missed and exploded in the compound of Khan, resulting in damage to several three-wheelers parked there”.

 Senior police officers visited the scene of the explosion and collected splinters. “There was no casualty in the explosion,” a police official of the Shaheed Gunj police station said.

· CAR BOMB KILLS 3 COPS,WOMAN

Sept 12: Four persons, including three policemen and a woman, were killed, while 15 others, including nine policemen, were wounded critically when a powerful car bomb ripped apart a police bus outside the Central Jail at Rainawari .Witnesses told media that the car bomb went off when a police bus of the District Police Lines, Pulwama, carrying several policemen was returning after dropping the detainees at the jail.

Police officials at the blast site said that two policemen: assistant sub-inspector, Sagar Singh and constable, Abdul Hamid, and a woman, Khadija of Khawaja Yarbal, Rainawari, were killed on the spot while at least 15 others, including nine policemen, sustained injuries. The injured were rushed to the SK Institute of Medical Sciences, Soura, where one of the policemen, Rakesh Kumar, succumbed. “The condition of eight other policemen is critical,” said a police official.

Officials said the improvised explosive device had been planted in a Maruti car parked some 30 meters away from the Central Jail gate. It was blown to pieces and its mangled remains lay adjacent to the bus which was thrown to roadside by the intensity of the blast. The twigs and branches of Chinar trees were scattered over several meters around the spot while the window panes of several residential adjoining houses were shattered. The blast was so powerful that its sound was heard several kilometers away.

Body of the deceased woman was trapped beneath a ruptured tyre of the bus for more than an hour after the blast. Police later removed her body. Top police and CRPF officials and experts from the Forensic Science Laboratory visited the spot to take stock of the situation. Panic gripped Rainawari and adjoining areas after the blast. Police and paramilitary CRPF troopers cordoned off the area and started searching and frisking the civilians.

Talking to media, inspector-general of police, Farooq Ahmad said that police had started investigation. Asked if the IED was planted in a car, he said, “It seems to be a car bomb blast.”

A police spokesman later claimed that blast had been carried out by a Lashkar-e-Toiba militant, Abdul Rahman, active in south Kashmir’s Shopian district. “Anyone providing information about him will be given Rs 10 lakh as reward,” he added.

· 6 JAWANS INJURED IN ACCIDENTAL EXPLOSION 

Sep 16: At-least six army jawans were injured, one of them critically, when a grenade exploded accidentally at the forward army post close in Balakot area in Mendhar tehsil of Poonch district. Official sources said, the incident occurred at around 9.10 AM, when the army personnel of 11 Kumaon (Mendhar battalion) were engaged in routine weapon cleaning (unloading) exercise at their Pune Post close to the Line of Control after returning from night patrolling. 

"It was just accidentally that the pin of grenade got removed accidentally by Lance Naik Sunik Kumar during unloading exercise and the grenade exploded. Kumar sustained critical injuries in the explosion and besides him five other army personnel also got splinter injuries. All of them were immediately shifted to Military Hospital Rajouri. 

"Yet given the critical situation of Lance Naik Sunil Kumar he was later airlifted to Command Hospital Udhampur, where he is now stated to be out of danger," the sources averred. 

Other injured army personnel have been identified as Hawaldar Markande Singh, Sepoy Daljit Singh, Sepoy Rajesh Kumar, Sepoy Sajjan Singh and Sepoy Ajit Kumar. The army has ordered court of enquiry into the incident. 

SUICIDES BY TROOPS

· BSF OFFICER COMMITS SUICIDE

Sept 3: A BSF officer allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon in Chadwal area of Kathua district, police said.Sushil Gogray, an Assistant Commandant of BSF, shot himself dead with his pistol at Manyari post near IB in Kathua district, they said,adding,the reason behind his taking this extreme step could not be immediately known. A case has been registered. Gogray, who originally belongs to 112 battalion of BSF, was presently attached to the 4th battalion of the force.

· JCO DIES MYSTERIOUSLY

Sept 17: A Junior Commissioned Officer (JCO) of Army died under mysterious circumstances in Machil sector in the frontier district of Kupwara, official sources said. They said JCO Darpal Singh was found dead under mysterious circumstances in an Army camp at border town of Machil. Police has registered a case and initiated proceedings, they said adding the cause of his death was not known.

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF SEPT -2009

	  DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Sept 01
	1
	1
	-
	1(Former SPO)

	Sept 02
	2
	5
	-
	-

	Sept 03
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 04
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Sept 05
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 06
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Sept 07
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 08
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Sept 09
	1
	4
	-
	-

	Sept 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 11
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Sept 12
	3
	-
	1
	-

	Sept 13
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Sept 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 15
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 16
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Sept 17
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 18
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 19
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Sept 20
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Sept 21
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 22
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Sept 23
	4
	4
	-
	-

	Sept 24
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Sept 25
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 26
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 27
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 28
	-
	3
	1
	-

	Sept 29
	3
	-
	-
	-

	Sept 30
	-
	-
	-
	1(Block President of NC)

	TOTAL
	19
	30
	6
	2

	                                                IN TOTAL
	57 KILLINGS


	Nature of crime 
	Victim’s details 
	Agency Involved
	Enquiry ordered by 
	Brief details of incidents


	Results of enquiries

	Custodial Killing
	Noor Hussain,65 

S/o Feroz Din

R/o Rathal Choudhary Nar village, about 9 km from Rajouri town
	Police
	Sept 13: District Magistrate ordered a magisterial probe into the incident.
	Sep 13-09: Aged handicapped civilian Noor Hussain was killed allegedly in custody in Choudhary Nar .According to reports, Noor Hussain was picked up by Police Saturday evening (Sept 12) when he was about to break his fast. 
	Sept 13: Senior Superintendent of Police Rajouri Shafqat Wattali suspended one Assistant Sub Inspector and two constables.



CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS

Sept 1: Police claimed to have killed Lashkar-e-Toiba militant Alyas Ahmed Khandey alias Abdu Sohail in an encounter with a joint party of police and troopers at Mahore in Kishtwar district. In the same district unidentified gunmen shot dead a former SPO, Gul Muhammad Sagar at Sanjar, Marwah.Meanwhile, SPO Manzoor Qureshi was killed and two troopers were injured in a gun battle with militants at Shekhipora Rafiabad in north Kashmir's Baramulla district.
Sept 2: Army claimed to have foiled an infiltration bid in north Kashmir’s Gurez sector by killing five unidentified militants. Meanwhile, two policemen were killed when militants attacked a police patrol in Thanamandi area of Rajouri district. The deceased cops were identified as Aijaz Ahmed hailing from Rafiabad, Baramulla and Khan Mohammad, an SPO from Kalakote.

Sept 3: Assistant commandant of BSF identified as Sushil Gogray shot himself dead with his pistol at Manyari post near IB in Kathua district.

Sept 4: Police claimed to have killed a top commander of Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) and claimed he was involved in recent attacks in Srinagar and in killing of CRPF troopers and police personnel. The slain militant has been identified as Shamim Sada alias Rizwan a resident Sada Mohalla Pattan, he was killed in fierce encounter in Poshwani village between the SOG component of Bandipora and 29 Rashtriya Rifles, police said.Meanwhile, security forces claimed to have shot dead a self styled commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) outfit in a fierce gun battle in Mahore tehsil of district Reasi.The slain militant has been identified as Mohammad Owais alias Abu Zindal of Kharian area of Pakistan. 

Sept 5: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 6: Police claimed to have killed a militant in an encounter with troops in north Kashmir’s Sopore town. The slain militant has been identified as Chota Saad alias Umair. 

Sept 7: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 8: Body of the missing activist of the Majlis-e-Mashawarat, spearheading the agitation over the double rape and murder of two women, was recovered from an orchard at Batapora-Bypass road near Arhama.Identified as 42-year old Muhammad Hussain Zargar son of Muhammad Ahsan of Batpora left his home at 11 a.m on Sept 5 after which he went missing. Meanwhile, army claimed to have foiled an infiltration bid in frontier district of Kupwara by killing one militant.

Sept 9: Four militants and a Major were killed in an encounter near Line of Control in Jammu’s Poonch district. The slain officer has been identified as Major Akash Singh of 5 Maratha regiment of Jammu.Meanwhile, four persons sustained injuries in a grenade explosion in north Kashmir’s Sopore town.

Sept 10: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 11: Army claimed to have killed an unidentified militant in frontier district of Kupwara.

Sept 12: Four persons, including three policemen and a woman, were killed, while 15 others, including nine policemen, were wounded critically when a powerful car bomb ripped apart a police bus outside the Central Jail at Rainawari.The deceased identified as assistant sub-inspector, Sagar Singh and constable, Abdul Hamid, and a woman, Khadija of Khawaja Yarbal, Rainawari, were killed on the spot while at least 15 others, including nine policemen, sustained injuries. The injured were rushed to the SK Institute of Medical Sciences, Soura, where one of the policemen, Rakesh Kumar, succumbed.

Sept 13: A 65-year-old civilian identified as Noor Hussain son of Feroz Din of Rathal Choudhary Nar village, about 9 km from Rajouri town was allegedly killed in custody in Choudhary Nar area of the frontier district. Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen shot dead the father of a surrendered militant in Jammu’s Kishtwar district, a police spokesman said the gunmen barged into the house of Ghulam Muhammad Chouhan in village Sigdhi Bata and opened fire on him killing him on the spot. The deceased was father of a surrendered militant, Raqeeb, who had laid down arms in November 2007 and is presently lodged in district jail, Udhampur.

Sept 14: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 15: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 16: Two militants were killed in separate encounters in Kupwara and Poonch districts.Meanwhile, six troopers sustained injuries in an “accidental” grenade explosion near Line of Control.
Sept 17: Junior Commissioned Officer (JCO) of Army died under mysterious circumstances in an Army camp at border town of Machil sector in the frontier district of Kupwara.The deceased has been identified as JCO Darpal Singh. Police has registered a case and initiated proceedings.

Sept 18: Two Special Police Officers (SPOs) were killed while another was injured by the militants at Sarak near Mangot area of Marmat, Doda.The deceased SPOs have been identified as Riyaz Ahmed, 32, (Belt number 309), son of Abdul Latief of Gajote and Abdul Gani, 28, (Belt number 1113) son of Chirag Din of Gajote were killed while the third SPO identified as Mohammad Yaqoob, (Belt number 549), son of Chatoo Guroos of Dugli sustained serious bullet injuries. Meanwhile, at least 25 people including six policemen were injured in ‘Youmi Qudus’ and ‘Kashmir Day’ protests. The police lobbed tear gas shells and fired several rounds in the air to disperse the protesters. The call was given by Hurriyat (G) chairman Syed Ali Geelani.The protests were held in Abiguzar Srinagar, Budgam, Islamabad, Sopore, Pulwama, Shopian and other areas. 
Sept 19: A militant of Lashkar-e-Toiba was killed in an encounter with troops in Jammu’s Doda district. The slain militant has been identified as Noor Hussain alias Chotta Hamza of Kishtwar.
Sept 20: Police claimed to have killed two unidentified militants in frontier district of Kupwara.Meanwhile, a girl was killed and her sister was injured when unidentified gunmen barged into the house of Abdul Ahad Khan at Akhal near Kangan, Ganderbal and resorted to indiscriminate firing on the inmates. In the shootout, Khan’s 24-year old daughter, Dilshada, was killed on the spot while her 16-year old 9th grade student, Roohi Jan, was wounded critically.  
Sept 21: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 22: A militant and an Army soldier were killed while four other jawans were injured in a fierce gun battle raging between militants and the security forces in the forest area  of Rafiabad in Baramulla district of North Kashmir. Five Army jawans were injured when they came under heavy and indiscriminate firing from the militants as the security forces were closing in on the hideout of the militants. One of the injured jawans succumbed to injuries while being evacuated to a hospital for treatment.

Sept 23: Police said two troopers including an Amy major and two top-ranking militant commanders were killed in an encounter in Sumbal area of north Kashmir’s Bandipora district. The deceased have been identified as Major Suresh Suri and Naik Khushal Singh. The slain militants have been identified as Abu Pasha and Abu Musa. Meanwhile, two troopers and two militants were killed in an encounter in Tulmulla forests.
Sept 24: Police claimed to have killed two militants in an encounter in south Kashmir’s Kulgam district. The slain militants have been identified as Manzoor Ahmad alias Saddam, chief commander of the Hizbul Mujahideen for Pir Panjal range and Saifullah alias Basharat, deputy divisional commander of the Lashkar-e-Toiba. Meanwhile, panic gripped several uptown areas of the city when the service weapon of an Indian Reserve Police constable, Javid Ahmed deployed at the Shaheed Gunj police station went off accidentally. He sustained grievous injuries and was rushed to the hospital. In another incident, A Special Police Officer (SPO) was injured when the militants fired at Police Post Ari in Mendhar tehsil of Poonch district. The injured SPO has been identified as Farooq Ahmed.

Sept 25: At least 10 people, including two policemen, were injured in clashes after Friday prayers at the north Kashmir towns of Sopore and Baramulla while protests were staged in downtown Srinagar.The protesters were demanding release of Syed Ali Geelani from house arrest.
Sept 26: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 27: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

Sept 28: CRPF and Special Operation Group (SOG) of police in a joint operation claimed to have killed three Lashkar–e-Toiba (LeT) militants at Amlar Tral in Pulwama district.A woman Taja Begum, wife of Asadullah Bhat was also killed in firing. The slain militants were identified as Abu-Dujana of Multan Pakistan, Abu-Zahid alias Abu Shahid of Pakistan and Mehraj-ud-Din alias Zaffar Sidique alias Salman Sajad, a local militant.
Sept 29: At least three CRPF men were killed and two civilians including a woman injured in a militant attack in apple town of Sopore.A CRPF man was killed on the spot while the other two expired at Sub-District Hospital Sopore. The deceased cops have been identified as Head constable Desraj, Constable D Pratap and Ramesh.
Sept 30: Police said that unidentified gunmen shot dead a block president of the ruling National Conference in north Kashmir’s Bandipora district. The deceased has been identified as Maqbool Parray.
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COURT ACQUITS 2 CRPF TROOPERS


Sept 24: The Court of Judicial Magistrate first class, Tral has acquitted two constables of Centre Reserve Police Force charged with indulging in indecent behavior with two women of Tral in March this year. Police had arrested the two constables identified as Habibullah Naik and Khursheed Ahmad of CRPF 180 battalion for alleged indecency with two women and registered a FIR against them under section 342 of Cr PC.


 After preliminary investigation, the duo were charge-sheeted and challaned in the court of judicial magistrate, Tral. However, on September 8, the Court said, “Prosecution has failed to prove the guilt of the accused and benefit of which goes to the accused who as the result are acquitted by the charge leveled against them in the instant case.” He said they were relieved from the conditions of bail and their personal bonds, which stands discharged.  





WOMEN / CHILDREN KILLED


Sept 12: Four persons, including three policemen and a woman, were killed, while 15 others, including nine policemen, were wounded critically when a powerful car bomb ripped apart a police bus outside the Central Jail at Rainawari.The deceased woman has been identified as Khadija of Khawaja Yarbal, Rainawari. Body of the deceased woman was trapped beneath a ruptured tyre of the bus for more than an hour after the blast. Police later removed her body.





Sept 20: A girl was killed and her sister was injured when unidentified gunmen barged into the house of Abdul Ahad Khan at Akhal near Kangan, Ganderbal and resorted to indiscriminate firing on the inmates. In the shootout, Khan’s 24-year old daughter, Dilshada, was killed on the spot while her 16-year old 9th grade student, Roohi Jan, was wounded critically. 


 


Sept 28: A woman identified as Taja Begum, wife of Asadullah Bhat was killed in cross firing at Amlar Tral in Pulwama district.
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